Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.
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RARE EARTH MAGNESIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 601)

2023 ANNUAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to announce the audited results of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023. This announcement, containing the
full text of the 2023 annual report of the Company, complies with the relevant requirements
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited in relation to information to accompany preliminary announcement of annual
results. Printed version of the Company’s 2023 annual report will be delivered to the
shareholders of the Company and available for viewing on the websites of the Stock
Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and of the Company at www.remt.com.hk on 30 April 2024.

By order of the Board
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Shum Sai Chit

Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
As at the date of this announcement, the Directors are:
Executive Directors: Mr. Shum Sai Chit and Ms. Chi Sile
Independent Non-executive Directors: Mr. Kwong Ping Man, Mr. Cheung Sound Poon and Mr. Lin

Pengxuan
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the "Board”), | am pleased to present the annual results of Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "REMT
Group” or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the "Year”) for all stakeholders to review.

“Magnesium prices continue to decline, reaching a three-year low”

In 2023, the global economy experienced a slowdown, and the overall economic environment was unfavorable.
The price of magnesium ingots in China showed a downward trend. Although there were temporary rebounds in
mid-April, mid-May, and late September, the decline continued from mid-October. The average monthly price
of magnesium in 2023 decreased from 21,811 yuan/ton in January to 20,433 yuan/ton in December. The average
price for the whole year was 21,953 yuan/ton, a decrease of 27.5% compared to the same period last year,
reaching the lowest point in three years. Since the beginning of 2024, the magnesium market has continued to
decline under pressure. Magnesium prices continue to explore the bottom, downstream purchases are generally
cautious, and factories and enterprises are suffering from severe losses. The magnesium metal market is under
heavy pressure.

Factory price of magnesium ingots in China in 2023 (RMB/ton)

RMB/ton
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

“The magnesium-aluminum price ratio back to reasonable range”

The continuous decline in magnesium prices has restrained the profitability of magnesium enterprises and posed
challenges to their operations. However, when looking at the price ratio between magnesium and aluminum,
the lower price of magnesium is beneficial for promoting downstream applications such as magnesium-
based hydrogen storage materials and magnesium construction templates. Magnesium is one-third lighter
than aluminum, so typically, the price of magnesium is 1.5-2 times that of aluminum. In 2023, the price ratio of
magnesium to aluminum remained at a relatively low level, with 9 months below 1.2, reaching a minimum of
1.08 and ending the Year at 1.18. These figures indicate a significant cost-effectiveness advantage of magnesium
compared to aluminum. Looking back over the past decade, the price ratio between magnesium and aluminum
has remained within a reasonable range. After experiencing significant fluctuations in magnesium prices due
to factors such as rising international raw material prices and Chinese Government environmental policies in
2021 and 2022, the ratio has returned to a reasonable range, highlighting the cost-effectiveness advantage and
functional value of magnesium. The increasing innovation and development of magnesium and magnesium
alloys are creating new opportunities for expanded applications.

“Upgrading and transforming production facilities are imperative”

The overall economic environment is unfavorable, and the industry is facing a downturn, impacting all players
in the magnesium industry. The performance of the Group in 2023 was not impressive, with high costs and
continuously declining magnesium prices, putting pressure on the Company profits. Meanwhile, in response
to the requirements of the Chinese Government’'s Ministry of Ecology and Environment and other functional
departments regarding the promotion of ultra-low emissions in the coking industry, as well as the guidelines
for industrial restructuring issued by the National Development and Reform Commission, the local government
in Hami, Xinjiang, where REMT's subsidiary Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co., Ltd. ("Xinjiang
Tengxiang”) is located, has mandated that designated industry production facilities must undergo upgrading
and renovation. This includes major magnesium production enterprises like Xinjiang Tengxiang, which primarily
utilise lanthanum coke tail gas for magnesium refining. Shortly after completing the restructuring of our offshore
debts, we still face numerous challenges. Market demand is weak, and there is a tight cash flow. However, the
environmental upgrade and renovation require a significant amount of capital investment. The management
is actively seeking financing and exploring various financing methods, including but not limited to introducing
venture capital, equity financing, project partnerships, and other financing options. They are making efforts to
find the best possible solution to meet the funding requirements.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

PROSPECTS

Xinjiang Tengxiang is a key production base of our Group. In response to the environmental requirements set
by the relevant Chinese Government departments, it is imperative to upgrade and transform the outdated
production facilities of the lanthanum charcoal production line at Xinjiang Tengxiang. The management team
is actively creating conditions for offshore financing platform, expanding financing channels, and making every
effort to raise funds to address the environmental upgrade and transformation needs. Additionally, the Board
will actively explore the feasibility of business transformation to enhance the long-term sustainable development
momentum of the Group. On behalf of the Group. | would like to sincerely thank all shareholders, members of
the Board, customers, banks, partners, and all colleagues for their strong support to the Group. | would also
like to express heartfelt gratitude to all employees of the Group for their outstanding performance. In the face
of the complex internal and external environment, such as global industrial chain adjustments and a sluggish
consumer market, the challenges we are facing are immense. Let us bravely face obstacles and move forward
with determination. Let us seize opportunities, embrace change, and continuously innovate and progress!

Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

¥ SO EEEE 5 A7 BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

EAREFERN - SEBNKRAREE263,491,0007T During the Year, the revenue of the Group was
(20224 - jB¥383,899,0007T) - WEFRHTET HK$263,491,000 (2022: HK$383,899,000), representing
31.4%  AFFE - SEEEEEIE/HEES5,281,000 a year-on-year decrease of 31.4%. During the Year,

7T R EFRBELERNBE%46,614,0000T the overall gross loss was HK$85,281,000, turning
BERNERTYE - BRI ARR A E 18 R 8 % 423,600,000 from a overall gross profit of HK$46,614,000 in
T0(2022%F © BFE ¥ 404,0007T) ° the comparative periods. The loss attributable to

shareholders was HK$423,600,000 (2022: profit of
HK$1,404,000).

MEEBRE FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS SUMMARY

—E=F —E-F —E——F
2023 2022 2021
FTEx FTET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(REEX) (RE®) (REX)
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

WA Revenue 263,491 383,899 416,060

EF Gross (loss)/profit (85,281) 46,614 68,775
EFE Gross (loss)/profit margin (32.4%) 12.1% 16.5%
NARVER AEML (Loss)/Profit attributable to

(&18), &5 owners of the Company (423,600) 1,404 (331,883)
HEFI 2= Net profit margin RERA N/A 0.4% TEA N/A

BEER Total asset 1,442,531 1,873,174 2,360,619

B REE Total equity 612,961 1,095,952 1,188,942
RITHE (B IER Cash at banks (including

RITER) pledged bank deposits) 39,954 38,297 35,568

fEE Gearing ratio

AR AR 2 3 Return on equity 01%  TNEA N/A

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
1[] Annual Report 2023



FEKREHBEDM
EEFEREL > EEAE2023FM R AR D T LB
120,408,0007T * 3% TF& 731.4% °

2023F R IR BE MR A SR FT kB VIR R - B2
RETRERTEE - £FE - SRENERZRESR
TRBY - BEFPABEHEN BEFENFEHA
Frig Nk - EREERR - METEANKE - BE
BT HFIRARRD -

BREEESEERNES S BB - #2022F8
11,098MA1% Z=2023F 1) 12,300MF - 1BEEE R FHE
BIE2022F K T NEFE B34, 592 T [ 22023 F K G NE &

#213377C - EMER TREBHBARIHER

Aty - EEESEEEEIEE%85,281,0000T @ M=
FRIBFREMEFEEEEL6,614,0007T ©

HihR&EER DM

HERSHEEH
HERDIHE R AER2301,0007T (20224 : B
3,073,0007C)  TEHMGHEBRMEEAETLSE
MK - HEMDHBERBEKRALELA0.9%(2022
F :0.8%) °

THEX

TEAZTERRBETHH - IEEEE - T kE
XERURMERR - XNFE - THRAZOREE
83,658,0007T (20224 : & #126,222,0007T) ° B+
B RN LB 28,620,000t R EAF #ATER A R
20226FFER - 2023 FBIAREHLER -

BEEF W RO (&)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

MAIN OPERATION DATA ANALYSIS

The Group's revenue in 2023 witnessed a decline of
approximately HK$120,408,000, or 31.4%, compared
to the previous year.

The global economic slowdown in 2023, alongside
a challenging economic environment, impacted
industries worldwide. In the PRC, magnesium
ingot prices followed a generally decreasing trend.
Despite interim recoveries in the middle of the year,
a persistent downturn commenced in the fourth
quarter of 2023. This economic climate, coupled with
industry-specific hurdles, significantly contributed to
our revenue shortfall.

Despite a slight increase in the Group’s sales volume
of magnesium products, from 11,098 tons in 2022
to 12,300 tons in 2023, the average selling price of
the Group's magnesium products decreased from
HK$34,592 per ton in 2022 to HK$21,337 per ton in
2023. This substantial price drop was the primary
driver behind the revenue decline.

Consequently, the Group faced an overall gross loss
of HK$85,281,000, a contrast to the HK$46,614,000
gross profit reported in the previous year's
comparative period..

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES ANALYSIS

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses were approximately
HK$2,301,000 (2022: HK$3,073,000), which mainly
comprised of marketing expenses and sales staff
wages. Selling and distribution expenses to revenue
ratio was approximately 0.9% (2022: 0.8%).

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consisted of
staff remuneration, depreciation and amortization,
audit and professional fees, as well as research
and development costs. For the year, administrative
expenses amounted to approximately HK$83,658,000
(2022: HK$126,222,000). The decrease is primarily
attributable to a provision for long outstanding
prepayments of approximately HK$28,620,000, which
was recognized in 2022; however, no similar amount
was recognized in 2023.

HERHERIERBR AR 11
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

(EUEEFEE

£2022F - BEBERAGZEESERA(EREAG
Z)REASEERAE2022F5 A E R - 1
BT A B 267,382,000 I EBEA WS © 2023F I
REER UL IR -

VRN S & ]

F2023F  SEMIIERBEERY T REEKE
Be  ©FAAEE203,902,0007T(20224F - B
61,530,0007T) » ZBEBN—IXMIFIRETER - 58
SEBEEXRFEBBEBNRIEERH -

AN - EEEFE2023F ER 15 48 853,992,000LHHE 5
FEUERF - TR EM TR TEHREAEAREE - m
20224F E 25 E 8 104,191,000 T HO B - E—RUEE
ZRERT202BFELERFE ZEBERFHYE o

B 7% B AR

NFE RIS AN BT 40 A7 %48,793,0000T © &
(7 BALE AN 7 B H27,870,0000T 0 kg K T 133.2% °
E—UBKAN EATERHNBIEEEAGTSERE
BITHAERES  2FFABRNERF EER
FER © /220234 + 548 R B%45,230,0007T (2022
F : B¥17,303,0000T) - EEBRFEEBRHBRIER
eHE  WAFERFTNEER

TENME R BTTEE R

EENEEAGBHL X BIAEZRKBRIUNEEE A
47.7% (20224 : 34.3%) ° E{Z=2023F12H318 * iR
1TF A E139,954,0007T (20224F « A %28,599,000
JC) °

2 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
1 Annual Report 2023

Gain on debt restructuring

In 2022, a gain on debt restructuring of approximately
HK$267,382,000 was recognized following the
approval and sanctioning of the creditors” scheme by
the scheme creditors ("Creditors’ Scheme”) and the
High Court of Hong Kong in May 2022. No such gain
was recognized in 2023.

Impairment and Allowance

In 2023, the Group recognised a provision for
impairment loss on non-current assets, amounting to
approximately HK$203,902,000 (2022: HK$61,530,000).
This provision is a non-recurring and non-cash item,
which has been attributed to the continuous loss-
making performance of the Group's magnesium
business.

Furthermore, the Group has recorded a reversal
of allowance for expected credit loss on trade
receivables, deposits and other deposits of
HK$3,992,000 in 2023, in which an allowance of
HK$104,191,000 was recognized in 2022. This reversal
of allowance mainly represented the collection of
these aged trade receivables in 2023.

Finance Costs

The finance cost for the year totaled approximately
HK$48,793,000, representing a year-on-year
increase of HK$27,870,000, or 133.2%. This rise in
finance costs is mainly due to the full-year effect of
recognizing effective interest expenses on borrowings
under the Creditors’” Scheme and the convertible
bonds issued pursuant to it. In 2023, these amounted
to HK$45,230,000 (2022: HK$17,303,000). These
effective interest expenses are non-cash in nature
and did not impact the Company’s cash flow.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's gearing ratio, representing the total
borrowings divided by total assets, was 47.7% (2022:
34.3%). At 31 December 2023, cash in bank was
HK$39,954,000 (2022: HK$28,599,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

In 2023, the Group’s magnesium product business
underperformed, incurring losses due to the global
economic slowdown. Given the poorer than expected
economic performance of the cash-generating unit
("CGU"), management indicated potential impairment
and assessed the assets. The carrying amounts
for property, plant, and equipment; right-of-use
assets; intangible assets; and mining rights were
approximately HK$1,020,495,000, HK$31,738,000,
HK$13,196,000, and HK$35,871,000, respectively.

The Group estimated the recoverable amount of
the CGU, including corporate assets, at around
HK$1,101,300,000. The value in use was calculated
based on five-year cash flow projections, with a pre-
tax discount rate of 13.90% and a growth rate of 2.16%,
in line with industry forecasts.

The impairment assessment indicated that the CGU's
recoverable amount was lower than its carrying
amount. The impairment loss recognized for property,
plant and equipment; right-of-use assets; intangible
assets; and mining rights was HK$188,941,000,
HK$5,876,000, HK$2,443,000, and HK$6,642,000,
respectively, ensuring no asset’s carrying amount fell
below its recoverable amount.

Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the Mainland China
and Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from primarily with respect to Renminbi,
Hong Kong Dollars and United States Dollars.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and
net investments in foreign operations. The Group’s
management does not expect the net foreign currency
risk from these activities to be significant and hence,
the Group does not presently hedge the foreign
exchange risks.

The Group has planned to periodically reviews liquid
assets and liabilities held in currencies other than
Hong Kong Dollars to evaluate its foreign exchange
risk exposure and consider the usage of hedging
instruments when necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments,
our Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a
dynamic basis and considers managing this risk in
a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through
variety of means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk
exposure of our customers. In order to minimise the
credit risk, management of the Group has authorised
a team responsible for determining credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The procedures required that all
clients were regularly assessed so that the Group
could keep track of their transaction records and
credit history.

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's current
borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$111,228,000 while its cash and cash equivalents
only amounted to approximately HK$39,954,000. As
disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements, the
Group is exposed to liquidity risk if it is not able to
raise sufficient fund to meet its financial obligations.

The directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. Responsibility
for managing operational risks basically rests
with functional departments of the Group and its
subsidiaries. Key function of the Group is to guide
their standard operating procedures, limits of
authority and reporting framework. Our management
will assess key operational exposures and effect
raised in business development regularly, implement
relevant measures and improve the internal control
so that risk can be responded and mitigated on a
timely and effective manner.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

In response to the requirements of the Chinese
Government’'s Ministry of Ecology and Environment
and other functional departments regarding the
promotion of ultra-low emissions in the coking
industry, as well as the guidelines for industrial
restructuring issued by the National Development
and Reform Commission, the local government
in Hami, Xinjiang, where REMT's subsidiary
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co., Ltd.
("Xinjiang Tengxiang") is located, has mandated
that designated industry production facilities must
undergo upgrading and renovation. This includes
major magnesium production enterprises like
Xinjiang Tengxiang, which primarily utilise lanthanum
coke tail gas for magnesium refining. Due to the
fact that the lanthanum charcoal production line at
Xinjiang Tengxiang was built and put into operation
in October 2010, the facilities of the production
line have become aged, outdated, and inefficient,
with a low level of energy efficiency and outdated
technology. It no longer complies with the industrial
policies of the Chinese government. The upgrade
and transformation of coking enterprises in the
Hami region have been included as a key focus of
local government supervision and regulation in 2024.
Xinjiang Tengxiang has been requested to promptly
implement the upgrade and transformation of the
outdated technology in the lanthanum charcoal
production facilities. Shortly after completing the
restructuring of our offshore debts, we still face
numerous challenges. Market demand is weak, and
there is a tight cash flow. However, the environmental
upgrade and renovation require a significant amount
of capital investment. The management is actively
seeking financing and exploring various financing
methods, including but not limited to introducing
venture capital, equity financing, project partnerships,
and other financing options. They are making efforts
to find the best possible solution to meet the funding
requirements.
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Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of
extension of its return period relative to the expected
return or occurrence of losses on any particular
investment attributable to changes of external
factors. The Group is well aware of the importance
of exploring various business opportunities and
territories on a continual basis, and implemented
this as the key task of the year. Key concern of
projects investment framework will be balancing risk
and return across different investments, and thus
risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment
decision process. Proper investment assessment
and due diligence procedures have been set up and
detailed analysis will be made before approving
investments. Regular updates on the progress of the
investments of our Group would be submitted to the
Board.

The Group's offshore debt restructuring was
completed in 2022, but domestic bank loan litigation
has entered the execution stage. As mentioned in the
2023 Interim Results, Baishan Tianan Magnesium
Metal Mining Co., Ltd. ("Baishan Tianan"), received
a summons from a PRC court on 2 June 2021, due
to Baishan Tianan’s failure to fulfill the loan terms
with a bank in the PRC. The bank filed a claim
against Baishan Tianan, demanding immediate
repayment of all outstanding principal, interest,
and other relevant fees. The related bank loan was
secured by the land use rights, factory buildings,
and machinery equipment owned by Baishan Tianan
located in Baishan City, Jilin Province, China (the
“Baishan Tianan Assets”). As of the date of this
report, the outstanding principal amount owed to the
bank is RMB64,000,000. The Company has received
an execution ruling from the Baishan Court dated
5 February 2024, and has been informed that the
Baishan Court will auction the Baishan Tianan Assets
from 10 March 2024 to 11 March 2024, with a total
reserve price of approximately RMB132.79 million.
The proceeds from the auction are expected to be
used primarily to repay the related debts of Baishan
Tianan. The Baishan Tianan Assets have been in idled
for years. As of the date of this report, the auction has
been unsuccessful.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

MANPOWER AND RETENTION RISK

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents
because of the Group's rapid business development
while at the same time facing severe competition
over specialists from the industry and turnover of
manpower. Our Group may face the risk of not being
able to recruit and retain key personnel and talents
with appropriate and required skills, experience and
competence to cope with the expansion of business
which would meet with our business objectives.
Our Group will periodically conduct a thorough
analysis over its remuneration system, as well as
incentive mechanism and optimize the compensation
structure so as to ensure remuneration packages
can align reasonably with market standard and
maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile, recruitment
channels are broadened and the talent pool of senior
management are strengthened, so as to further
enhance the promotion opportunities and career path
of employees. Systematic staff training are also being
further enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness
of training and the dissemination of corporate
cultures and values.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly
means that the PRC Government is paying increasing
attention to environmental rules and policies and is
imposing more stringent regulatory requirements.
The Group's subsidiaries and newly acquired
enterprises have been operating for a long while
which might lag behind in certain environmental
and duty requirements promulgated by the PRC
Government. The Group monitors impact on business
development closely raised from movements of
environmental policy and external factors. Acting
in an environmentally responsible manner and
performing social responsibilities, the Group is
committed to improving and maintaining the long
term sustainability of the communities in which it
operates. The Group endeavours to comply with laws
and regulations regarding environmental protection
and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, energy saving and waste reduction.
Green initiatives and measures have been adopted in
daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives include
recycling of resources, energy saving measures and
water saving practices.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China while the
Company is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
The Group’s operations accordingly shall comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China
and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report, to the best
of our knowledge, the Group has no material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
Mainland China and Hong Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was
approximately 352 as at 31 December 2023. The
remuneration of employees was determined by the
Group with reference to their performance, work
experience and current market conditions. Employee
benefits include annual leave, medical insurance and
provident fund scheme. There has been no labour
dispute or significant change in the relationship with
the employees that affect the normal operations
of the Group. The Directors believe that the Group
maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to
maintain good relationship with business partners,
shareholders, investors and banks to achieve its long-
term goals. To keep up with our key stakeholders
closely, the Group has formulated corresponding
scheme about investor relationship, and also
holds tailored activities from time to time, such as
annual/extraordinary general meetings, on-site
visits, seminars and road-shows. Accordingly, our
senior management has kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business
latest update about development of the Group with
our stakeholders when appropriate. During the year,
there was no material dispute between our Group and
its business partners or banks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

PROJECT OVERVIEW
Dolomite Mine

The Group's dolomite mine is situated in Baishan
City, Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated
by open-pit method, and therefore no additional
exploration works are involved or required. Only
simple infrastructure works for open-pit mining
are involved in the development activities, and no
underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for
producing magnesium products of the Group. The
transportation cost for raw material is relatively
low due to the close proximity of the mine to the
production base of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under
the Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31
December 2023, the anticipated resource and reserve
volumes were determined based on the yearly
reduction of quantity mined to calculate the remaining
resource and reserve volumes. There is no material
change in the assumptions of estimation by the Group
as compared with those previously disclosed. The
resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the
Group's internal geological experts. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, the dolomite output was
39,227 tonnes. As compared with the state as at 31
December 2022, there was no material change in the
resource estimate and ore reserve of the dolomite
mine.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities of
dolomite for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
approximately HK$nil while the expenditure incurred
in exploration and development activities was HK$nil.
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The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance to the long-term development of the Group and
has devoted considerable efforts in identifying, formulating,
implementing and enhancing corporate governance practices in
accordance with the needs of the Group. As mentioned below,
the Company has established the relevant committees/sub-
committee and adopted certain internal policies to improve
internal controls and enhance transparency of business
operation of the Group with a view to protect the interests of its
stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices [the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”), save for the deviations as disclosed in
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” section.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct of the Group
regarding securities transactions of the directors of the Company
(the "Directors”) on terms no less exactly than required standard
set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

THE BOARD

Currently, the Board comprises the following five Directors:

Executive Directors

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer]
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Lin Pengxuan

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategies
and policies of the Group, reviewing and monitoring its
financial performance, including preparing and approving
financial statements and overseeing operational matters of
the management, considering the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function and their training programmes
and budget. Daily business operations and administrative
functions of the Group are delegated to the management.

Board meetings and practices

The Board meets regularly and board meetings are held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices
and agenda of regular board meetings are served to all Directors
at least fourteen days before the meetings to ensure that all
Directors are given the opportunity to attend and to include
matters in the agenda. Discussion materials of regular board
meetings are sent to all Directors for their study at least three
days prior to the meetings. Draft minutes of board meetings
are circulated to all Directors for review and comments within a
reasonable time after the meetings prior to confirmation. Minutes
are recorded in sufficient detail of the matters considered by the
Board and decisions reached.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings and practices (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, four board meetings
were held by the Company, and the individual attendance rate
of each Director at meetings of the Board, its committees and
General Meetings is as follows:

HITES Executive Directors

T Shum Sai Chit

UIES Chi Sile

BUEBTES Independent Non-executive
Directors

BRX Kwong Ping Man

RER Cheung Sound Poon

G Lin Pengxuan

FidifE/ BT 8%
Attended/held

Exg B i‘m% %ﬁ@H
g% éé\gg% ;EE Eln?ﬁ ;EE Euiﬁ Hﬁﬁj{g
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration Members
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
4f4 - 1/1 - 1/1
4f4 - - - 1/1
4f4 5/ 11 1/1 1/1
4f4 5/5 - 1/1 1/1
4f4 5/5 - - 1/1

B EMHBIE310(1)(2) - LA K3 10AK
ZEE  ARFERERHAHEE 2B
EMITEE > MBILIFRTESHNE
LE—REBEESTIEBTBER
ER -EFCEWNIZBILIIFERTES
mﬁimﬁ%%anhﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁ%
TEWR 2 FERER K ©

SEEERECHTEFEBRYE X
% KBRHEMER MEENREE

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors have
been appointed and at least one of the remaining Independent
Non-executive Directors has appropriate accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board has received annual
confirmation of independence from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

THE BOARD (continued)
Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Company updates the Directors of the latest changes
in the Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time. Apart
from encouraging the Directors to participate in continuous
professional development ("CPD") courses to refresh and
enhance their knowledge and skills, the Company also arranged
an industry-related in-house seminar for the Directors and
provided them with reading materials relating to the directors’
duties. All Directors have provided the Company with their
records of training they received during the year ended 31
December 2023.

A summary of the trainings participated by the Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

BHEEXE
BREI
& g
Types of
continuous
professional
development
S Directors training Notes
HITES Executive Directors
Lt e Shum Sai Chit B
FURES Chi Sile B
BIFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BB IR L Kwong Ping Man AN B
Aand B
RE A Cheung Sound Poon AKB
Aand B
MBS Lin Pengxuan AKB
Aand B
BEE - Notes:
A HEBESUEIIERIE A: Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)
B: MERE NWYREEARREBIETRARR B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business or

- EARREMEREERERTERSEIE
H BT A R

directors’ duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, etc.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties of the Company in accordance with the “Terms
of Reference of Corporate Governance Function” adopted by it:

(a)] to develop and review the Company’ s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

(d) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the
following corporate governance duties:

e Reviewed and approved the contents of the Corporate
Governance Report included in the 2022 annual report of the

Company; and

e Adopted the “Board Diversity Policy".
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Subsequent to the retirement of Ms. Chi Bi Fen as Chief Executive
Officer in 2019, Mr. Shum Sai Chit, the chairman and an executive
Director, has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

Mr. Shum Sai Chit has numerous years of experience in the
management of the Company and is familiar with all aspects of
the Group’s operations and the Board considers that Mr. Shum
Sai Chit is well qualified to take up the role of the Chief Executive
Officer.

Following the appointment of Mr. Shum as Chief Executive Officer,
the Company does not have a separate chairman and Chief
Executive Officer and Mr. Shum holds both positions, in which
there is deviation to code provision C.2.1 of Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, which
provides (among other matters] that the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Shum Sai Chit had
been in charge of the overall management of the Company since
2015 and the Company considered that such arrangement would
promote the efficient formulation and implementation of the
Company’s strategies which would enable the Group to further
develop its businesses effectively at this stage. The Board will
review the current structure from time to time and shall make
necessary arrangements when the Board considers appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the Non-executive Directors and the
Independent Non-executive Directors are fixed for a specific term,
and shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company (the "Bye-laws”).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee respectively. Each committee is delegated with
specific authorities by the Board in assisting the Board to
discharge its duties and to administer particular aspects of the
Group’s activities. The roles and functions of each committee are
summarized below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999. The Company
has adopted Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee in
compliance with the Code. The Audit Committee comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping
Man (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
and Mr. Lin Pengxuan.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to provide
an independent and professional advice on financial reporting and
review the internal control of the Group.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board of the significant
issues discussed by the Committee for the Board's information
and/or consideration.

The Audit Committee has held five meetings in the year ended 31
December 2023 and has reviewed the final results for the period
ended 31 December 2022 and the interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2023, and confirmed that the accounting
principles and practices adopted as well as the disclosures made
in such financial statements were appropriate, accurate and fair.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee has also discussed with the auditors on the
scope of audit for the year ended 31 December 2023, and reviewed
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 1996. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee in compliance with the Code. The Remuneration
Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely Mr. Shum
Sai Chit (Chairman of Remuneration Committee] and two
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping
Man and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure in relation to remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. It schedules to meet at least once
a year to review and determine the remuneration packages of
the Executive Directors and senior management and to make
recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of Non-
executive Director. In determining and approving the remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Company, the
Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance
and profitability of the Company and its business units.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2023 to review the existing remuneration
policies of the Directors and senior management of the Company,
etc..
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BOARD COMMITTEES /continued)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Nomination
Committee with reference to the Code. The Nomination
Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely Mr. Shum
Sai Chit (chairman of the Nomination Committee) and two
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping
Man and Mr. Lin Pengxuan.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors, assessing the independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors and monitoring the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2023, together with by means of written
resolutions, to review and deal with the following major issues:

e  Reviewed the qualifications and experiences of individual
Directors as well as their roles and responsibilities in the
Group to ensure the existing Board structure is fit for the
business growth of the Group; and

e  Reviewed the degree of diversity of the existing Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY SUMMARY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of its Board members. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and competence, and the candidates will be
considered against certain objective criteria such as gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
qualifications, areas of experience, skills, knowledge and length
of services, etc. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total remunerations
paid/payable by the Company to its external auditors in respect of
the audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

FHT

PR 7 %8 7 Types of services HK$’000

F % R Audit services 800

4Bt Total 800
BEEREVERRZ2ET DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARATION OF THE

EEERAREREAREVTEELAF
HWRBASEEEHEMRILEE 20T
WK BE_ZE_=ZF+=-_A=+—
BEFE  AEBEHBEEFEBY
423,600,000/ 7T °

ARAZBMPEH T HRE 2 BER
TEAFNANBFRELLTEHELA L
B AZBENRE A -

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group's affairs and results. The Group recorded a
consolidated net loss of approximately HK$423,600,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 47 to 55 of this
annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Since 20 August 2015, Mr. Fan Kwok Man, Raymond has
been appointed as the Company Secretary. Mr. Fan holds a
Bachelor of Business Administration in Insurance, Financial and
Actuarial Analysis from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
and he is member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 10 years of experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and corporate finance.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Fan has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convention of Special General meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition to the Company’s registered office. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance
with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 (the "Companies Act”).
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS /continued)
Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, registered
Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal at a general
meeting if they:

(a] represent not less than 5% of the total voting rights of the
Company at the date of the deposit of the requisition; or

(b) are not less than 100 registered Shareholders.

The written requisition stating the resolution(s) should be duly
signed by the registered Shareholder(s) concerned, accompanied
by a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with must be deposited at the Company’s registered
office. The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements. The Shareholder(s) concerned would
be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto
in accordance with the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of
the Companies Act once valid documents are received.

Enquiries from Shareholders

The Board welcomes views, enquires and concerns in relation to
the management and corporate governance of the Group from
Shareholders. Shareholders may at any time send their enquires
and/or concerns to the Board in writing by email (info@remt.com.
hk), by fax ((852) 2802 2697) or by mail to the principal place of
business of the Company for follow up.

For shareholding enquiries, Shareholders may contact the Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company
was updated on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong ("Stock Exchange”] on 4 July 2023 and
there is no other change in such constitutional document during
the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibilities for risk management and
internal control of the Group. The system of internal control is
designed to manage and mitigate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives with reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted review
of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group.
The scope of review would cover risk management functions,
financial, operational and compliance controls, the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget, etc..

The Company have formulated an inside information policy
providing guideline on handling inside information. The Company
regularly reminds the directors and employees about compliance
with all policies adopted by the Company regarding inside
information including the Model Code set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules in relation to dealings in securities of the
Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group is committed to enhance investor relationship by
increasing its transparency to the investment community.

The following measures have been taken by the Company to keep
investors informed of the latest developments and news of the
Group and to facilitate a two-way communication between the
Company and its Shareholders:

(a)  Mailing corporate communication documents such as
interim reports, annual reports and circulars to the
Shareholders periodically and uploading the same on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange;

(b)  Publishing announcements through the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(c) Making available of the Company’s corporate and products
information on its website;

(d) Organizing general meetings to facilitate direct exchange of
views between the Shareholders and the management of the
Company; and

(e)  Encouraging investors to communicate with the Company
through the Company’s website from time to time.

At the Company’s last AGM held on 29 June 2023, all the
resolutions relating to the adoption of financial statements, re-
election of Directors, reappointment of auditors and grant of
general mandates to issue and repurchase shares have been duly
passed. The forthcoming AGM of the Company is scheduled to be
held in June 2024 or any other dates as specified in further notice
of AGM meeting to be published on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange later.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHUM Sai Chit, age 66, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the
Managing Director of Go Modern Limited which was principally
engaged in manufacturing of textile products and trading
activities. In 1984, Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles Import and
Export Corporation as a Manager to oversee importing and
exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate of Consumer
Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum was also an executive
director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
509) until 31 July 2021.

Ms. CHI Sile, aged 35, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 1 August 2021. Prior to her appointment,
she was the director of investor relations department of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) and
responsible for managing investor relations. Ms. Chi holds a MBA
degree from the University of Hong Kong and a double degree
of Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Arts from the University of
Western Australia. Ms. Chi is the daughter of Mr. Chi Wen Fu, the
chairman and executive director of Century Sunshine.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Ping Man, age 59, is a director of O'Park Corporate
Services Limited which provides corporate advisory services.
Mr. Kwong had served as the chief financial officer of various
companies for almost seven years. Mr. Kwong has over 15
years of experience in accounting, finance and administration.
He obtained a master's degree in Professional Accounting
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member
of the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants,
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries. Mr. Kwong is currently an independent
non-executive director of Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1181), Landrich Holding Limited (Stock Code: 2132)
and Royal Deluxe Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3789). He was
an independent non-executive director of Dragon King Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8493) from 15 December 2017 to 9
April 2021.

Mr. CHEUNG Sound Poon, age 63, is currently a senior audit
manager at Chui & Kwok (CPAJ. He was an audit senior at Gary W.
K. Yam & Co. [CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 40 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 509).

Mr. LIN Pengxuan, aged 40, was the senior compliance manager
of Donghai International Financial Holdings Company Limited
till 8 August 2022 and prior to that engagement, he has worked
as the Compliance Director of Zhongrong PT Securities Limited
and Zhongrong PT Finance Limited and the Chief Compliance
Officer of Well Link Securities Limited. Mr. Lin has over eight
years of working experience in internal control and compliance.
Mr. Lin has obtained a Ph.D. in International Finance of Applied
Economics from Xiamen University, the Master of Laws from
Translational Law and Business University and the Bachelor of
Laws from East China University of Politics and Law.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Tianyuan, age 59, is responsible for the corporate affairs
management of the Group. Mr. Lu is a graduate of Chinese
Language and Literature and is an economist. He has over 15
years of relevant experience in corporate affairs management.
Prior to joining the Group, he has worked in a large alloy
enterprise for over 25 years. He joined the Group in 2015.

Mr. BAl Haisheng, aged 55, currently serves as the chief Engineer
of the group. Mr. Bai graduated from the Department of Materials
Science and Engineering, with a specialization in thermal
processing from Taiyuan University of Technology. Before
joining the group, he was responsible for the production process
technology and product research and development management
in several large magnesium enterprises and has over 20 years of
extensive experience in the magnesium industry. He joined the
Group in 2016.

Mr. ZHANG Junchao, aged 47, has more than fifteen years of
experience in marketing magnesium products. He has previously
held managerial positions such as the manager of the supply
and marketing department, manager of the trade department,
and general manager of a production base. He is currently the
General Manager of Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co.,
Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group.

Mr. ZHU Xinlong, also aged 47, is responsible for the production
management of Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co.,
Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Zhu has over 20 years of
practical and management experience in the magnesium industry
and is adept in the production process of magnesium and
magnesium alloys as well as on-site organizational management.
He joined the Group in 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries is set out in note 1 to the
financial statements, respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future development in the
Group's business, can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 10 to 19 of this annual report. This
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital
importance to the long-term development of the Group. In order
to minimise the environmental impact, the Group will continue to
review and improve the effectiveness of its management practices
from time to time. "Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” will be published on or before 30 April 2024. For details,
please refer to the Company’s website.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 56 to 59.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the year
under review. No payment of final dividend to Shareholders
is recommended for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
accumulated losses of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$30,317,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2023:

(i]  The Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
accounted for 16.8% and 47.2% respectively of the Group's
total revenue.

(i)  The Group's largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 26.3% and 59.3% respectively of the Group’s
total purchases [not including purchases of items which are
of capital in nature).

According to the understanding of the Board, none of the
Directors, their associates or any Shareholders who owned more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital had any interest in the
five largest customers or the five largest suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and
restated as appropriate, is set out on pages 179 to 180. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Except as disclosed in the note 30 to the financial statements,
there were no movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended] ["Companies Act”) amounted
to HK$521,318,000. Under the Companies Act, the Company’'s
contributed surplus is also available for distribution to the
Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution made
out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or the realisable
value of its assets would thereby become less than its liabilities.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer]
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Lin Pengxuan

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Ms. Chi Sile, Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon and Mr. Kwong Ping Man will retire by rotation. Mr.
Kwong Ping Man has informed the Company that he will retire
as independent non-executive Director of the Company after the
conclusion of the AGM and will not offer himself for re-election
at the AGM. Ms. Chi Sile and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with the Group which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man, Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon and Mr. Lin Pengxuan, an annual confirmation
confirming their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the Company considers all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.
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EERAEZREER DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

RZE-_=F+-"A=+—H  BEXK At 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and their
N EBES LR EGOIFEI52GMTE associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
ZBRMAREE - SRR R AP 8% and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of

10FTEL 2 IZ2ESF R M AN A B B R BT P the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SF0")), as recorded

R - Xi%&ﬁ EZBBATRAR in the register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of
AINHEHBMEAR(EE RES LB IRD the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
([ 5 KRG 5PI]) EXVER) #E A 2 & h Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
N 2 RN T - the Listing Rules, were as follows:

RARTIRG - HHERMDKES 2 Interestsin the Shares, underlying shares and debenture of the Company

-u-\/

R

FERERRARRRE 2 EBRHE

Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed to be interested

RN

ERTRA

oL ZERMY

EZ EARS FirEm BRESE RS it B

Approximate
percentage of

interests in

the issued

share capital

Personal Family Number of Corporate of the

Director interests interests  options held interests Total Company

#eE

Long position
Nil

A

Short position
&

Nil

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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= () DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES /continued)
R (FB) Interests in the shares of associated corporations (long position)

ESfA

Names of Directors

it
Shum Sai Chit

LS
Chi Sile
FEA
Cheung Sound Paon

REEEER

Name of associated corporation

Bt EEERERAR(ELHL)

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
["Century Sunshine”]

RS

Century Sunshine

G

Century Sunshine

RERZIRAERERZEERYE (HR)

Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed

to be interested (long position)

Personal
interests

14,666,305

36,736,742

N
S
W
B

Family
interests

(i) Y]

B8fTZ

Fis kA2
BRESE e 2Pl
% of issued

share

Number of capital of
options associated
held Total  corporation
20,000,000 34,666,305 0.76%
- 36,736,862 0.80%
5,000,000 5,000,000 0.11%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES /continued)
Interests in the shares of associated corporations (long position) (continued)

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or their associates had any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees for the
development of the Group’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 4 December 2017
(the "Scheme”]. The qualifying participants mainly include
employees and directors of the Group and any substantial
shareholders, and the consultants or adviser, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, service providers, agent, customer and
business partner of the Group who have contribution to the Group.
The Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years since its establishing date. The remaining life
of the Scheme is approximately 4 years [(expiry on 4 December
2027).

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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BIRETE SHARE OPTION SCHEME /continued)

NR-ZE-_=F+=-"A=+—H - %3 As at 31 December 2023, there was no options of outstanding
BT I ARTTE 2 REARE ([REARAE D) - under the Scheme [the “Options”).

i
R g
g £ £ £ £R t=A
-A-H Rtz iy i k¥ =t+-H
B#h BhE ERE BhRE BRE #h T
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled lapsed Held at
1 January during during the during during 31 December Exercise
2023 the year year the year the year 2023 price
B
HK$
A k&
Employees 8,170,000 - - - (8,170,000) - N/A
7,000,000 - - - (7,000,000) - N/A
B %=
Directors
s 1,500,000 - - - (1,500,000 - N/A
Shum Sai Chit
Bmx 250,000 - - - (250,000) - N/A
Kwong Ping Man
REA 250,000 - - - (250,000] - N/A
Cheung Sound Poon
10,170,000 - - - (10,170,000) - N/A
7,000,000 - - - (7,000,000) - N/A
17,170,000 - - - (17.170,000) - -
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 34 to 36 of
the annual report.

DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Directors’ interests in securities”, at no
time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders” approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
was in force for an indemnity against liability incurred by the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Directors nor a connected entity of Directors had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of
the Group to which any of the Company’s holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
At 31 December 2023, the register of substantial shareholders

kept

by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows

that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain
Directors, the following Shareholder had notified the Company of
relevant interests and short positions in the issued share capital

KRB of the Company:
FrsE R EEBITRA
IR B 78 gl =] 2Bt
Number of
ordinary % of issued

Name of Shareholder

Ming Xin Developments Limited (Fif5E1) (note 1)

New Bright Group Limited (Ff§5£2) (note 2)
4D 5 e BRI A R A A (FEE3)

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (note 3)

A (i FE4)

Chi Wen Fu (note 4)

Thoughtful Limited (Fif5£5) (note 5)
Concord Sea Limited(MI5E6) (note 6)
So Kit Yee Anita(Fd5E55.6)(note 5 & 6)

Leung Hin Hang Fredric (F#7£556)(note 5 & 6)

shares held share capital

237,049,786 (L) 40.0
237,049,786 (L) 40.0
237,049,786 (L) 40.0
237,049,786 (L) 40.0
42,823,900 (L) 7.2

78,772,680 (L) 13.3
121,596,580 (L) 20.5
121,596,580 (L) 20.5

Wi

(1) 237,435,871% fAMing Xin Developments Limited & #
BA -

(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited &New Bright Group
LimitedZ 2 &M B AR » #ut - stES RAEED
ifiE * New Bright Group Limited % &# & Ming
Xin Developments Limited A % 2 2 Bk (5 2 1
2% 0

(3] New Bright Group Limited 425 2 2 EWEA
Al o Bt - BEESFRAEGHmE - LB RR
A¥EABMing Xin Developments Limited A i 2 &
AR An 2 #Eas o

(4) X EERAEFEHLES Y (Ming Xin Developments
Limited Z RAER AR BRRAS LZEH =52 —
s A EFRORKE - Bl - SEEHFRERESmE b
X E S AR ABEA Ming Xin Developments Limited
HHEER 2 RN 2 E o

B) MEARFREEFRERAZENZH  QRFR
—E - —F )\ AR B #65,843,9000% B T LB
w45 A E (Bl Thoughtful Limited) © BRZ#E X
THRITEEERHRNEATEE ° Thoughtful
Limited BEFRBARE-_S_=FERET
18,670,000 3/ A% ©

)  MEARRDEEFREEAZENRE  A7RZ
T =FNANE79.012,680 0 T L BRER
#7722 (BlConcord Sea Limited) ° #2E & +
MBI EERFTRNBESEEE - RITERES
RYERE_E_=FAAANAEZE+-_A=+—AH
FIRE 7 240,000 @A% o

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

237,435,871 shares are beneficially owned by Ming Xin Developments Limited.

Ming Xin Developments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Bright Group
Limited. As such, New Bright Group Limited is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

New Bright Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine. As
such, Century Sunshine is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Ming Xin
Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

Mr. Chi Wen Fu controls more than one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Century Sunshine (the ultimate holding company of Ming Xin
Developments Limited). As such, Mr. Chi Wen Fu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.

According to the Scheme of Arrangement between the Company and its scheme
creditors, the Company transferred 65,843,900 issued ordinary shares to the scheme
company (i.e. Thoughtful Limited] on 5 August 2022. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr.
Leung Hin Hang Fredric are the joint and several administrators of the scheme.
Thoughtful Limited has disposed 18,670,000 ordinary shares for the year ended 31
December 2023 pursuant to the terms of the Scheme.

According to the scheme of arrangement between the Century Sunshine and its
scheme creditors, Ming Xin Developments Limited transferred 79,012,680 issued
ordinary shares to the scheme company li.e. Concord Sea Limited) on 6 September
2023. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr. Leung Hin Hang Fredric are the joint and several
administrators of the scheme. Concord Sea Limited has disposed 240,000 ordinary
shares for the period from 6 September 2023 to 31 December 2023 pursuant to the
terms of the Scheme.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements,
there was no connected transaction during the year and in prior
period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, as
at the latest practical date prior to the printing of this report.

AUDITORS

Pursuant to the announcement dated 17 November 2023, HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has been resigned as the auditors
of the Company and Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited has
been appointed as the auditors as at that date. Prism Hong Kong
and Shanghai Limited will retire and the Company will propose a
resolution at its forthcoming AGM to reappoint Prism Hong Kong
and Shanghai Limited as auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board

Mr. Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong

T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322
www.prism.com.hk

CERRE A ESERAR
BEBRIDIER X 2B 191 1903A-1905%
T: +852 2774 2188 F: +852 2774 2322
www.prism.com.hk

To the Shareholders of
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
[Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability]

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Rare
Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”] and its subsidiaries [collectively referred to as
the "Group”) set out on pages 56 to 178, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ["HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 24
March 2023.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables

Refer to Note 3 and Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had trade receivables of approximately
HK$145,687,000. The allowance for ECL
were approximately HK$144,038,000.

Management applied judgement
in assessing the ECL Receivables
relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision
for impairment allowance. ECL are
also estimated by recoverability of the
trade receivables and the sufficiency
of allowance for ECL based on
information including credit profile
of different customers, aging of the
trade receivables, historical settlement
records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount
of realisation of outstanding balances,
and on-going trading relationships
with the relevant customers.
Management also considered forward-
looking information that may impact
the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to
estimate the ECL.

We focused on this area due to the
allowance for ECL of trade receivables
under the ECL model involved the use
of significant management judgements
and estimates.

Qur audit procedures in relation
to management’'s assessment on
allowance for ECL on trade receivables
included but not limited to:

o (Obtaining an understanding
and assessing the design and
implementation and evaluating
the key controls related to
credit control, debt collection
and estimating the credit loss
allowance;

o Assessing whether items in the
trade receivables ageing reports
were categorised in the appropriate
ageing bracket with underlying
sales invoices and other relevant
supporting documents, on a
sample basis;

o Obtaining and assessing the
subsequent settlement of trade
receivables against bank receipts
and other relevant supporting
documents, on a sample basis;

o Assessing the appropriateness of
the ECL provisioning methodology
of the Company, examining the
key data inputs on a sample basis
to assess their accuracy and
completeness, and challenging
the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the
ECL: and

o Re-performing the calculation
of the ECL as at 31 December
2023 based on the Group's ECL
allowance policies.

Based upon the above, we found that
the estimation and judgement made
by management in respect of the
allowance for ECL on trade receivables
were supportable by the available
evidence.
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Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining rights

Refer to Note 3 and Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amounts of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and mining rights
were approximately HK$1,020,495,000,
HK$31,738,000, HK$13,196,000
and HK$35,87 000 respectwely.
Impairment losses of approximately
HK$188,941,000, HK$5,876,000,
HK$2,443,000 and HK$6,642,000 had
been recognised in respect of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining
rights respectively.
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Qur audit procedures in relation
to management's impairment
assessment included but not limited to:

o Evaluating the independent valuer's
independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity who
performed the business valuation;

o Obtaining an understanding of
the valuation process adopted by
the external valuer, including the
valuation model adopted, CGUs
allocation and assumptions used;

o Enquiring the external valuer
and management of the Group to
assess the reasonableness of the
significant unobservable inputs and
the accuracy of the source data;

o Challenging the key assumptions
including the revenue growth rate.
We considered the appropriateness
of the discount rates adopted by
management; and

o Considering the adequacy
of disclosure of impairment
assessments of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and mining rights
set out note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

We found that the management
judgement and assumptions were
supportable by the available evidence.
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The Group is required to perform
impairment assessment on property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining
rights whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not
be recoverable in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 3. The
recoverable amounts of the Group's
cash generating unit ("CGUs") was
determined based on the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to disposal
and its value-in-use using discounted
cash flow projection. We focused on
this area because the amounts of
property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and
mining rights were significant and
the impairment assessment process
involved significant management's
judgements and estimates including
the selection of appropriate
comparables and assumptions such
as discount rate and future revenue
in the cash flow projection. The Group
engaged an external valuer to assist
the assessment for the recoverable
amount of the CGUs.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors of the
Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS” RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act and our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’'s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’'s
directors” use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS /continued)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Chin Wang Leung.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chin Wang Leung
Practising Certificate Number: P07806

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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REREREMEEBRAR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEZZFT-=F+=ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

By =E
Notes
WA Revenue 6
SHE A Cost of sales
(%Té)/%f' Gross (loss)/profit
H AW as sk B8 - FRE Other gains or losses, net b
B EA KR Gain on debt restructuring 6
HE R D HX H Selling and distribution expenses
T H Administrative expenses
BEHRBRT - ke &k Net allowance for expected credit
HEmERIETEREE losses on trade receivables,
EERE T deposits and other receivables
MOE - WE MR IEHER Impairment loss recognised on
ZREEE property, plant and equipment 18
B AL ERERABERE Impairment loss recognised on
right-of-use assets 18
B EERE Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 18
RIEEER 2 RMERBE Impairment loss recognised
on mining right 18
MEER Finance costs 8
BiAT (B51R) R (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7
FTEiE e,/ () Income tax credit/(expense) 11
FE BB, &=H (Loss)/profit for the year
Hitb 2 H X H OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE

KB EEF D E R A

Other comprehensive expense

A f@%ﬁ:ﬁf to be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
BMEBINEBCELEHE Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations
FEAEMEEZ HNG Other comprehensive expense for the
FRASH year, net of income tax

—E =

2023
TET
HK$'000

263,491
(348,772)

(85,281)
(5,968)

(2,301)
(83,658)
3,992
(188,941)
(5,876)
(2,443)

(6,642)
(48,793)

(425,911)
2,311

(423,600)

(74,077)

(74,077)

—E__—F
2022
FET
HK$°000

383,899
(337,285)

46,614
7,575
267,382

(3,073)
(126,222)

(104,191)

(58,631)

(1,957)

(942)

(20,923)

5,632
(4,228)

1,404

(160,593)

(160,593)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
HEZT-=F+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

REBERAEMEEEBARE)

Bt aE
Notes
FEREXHARE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES
FOR THE YEAR
THALTEIEFFE(ER),  [Lossl/profit for the year
H A attributable to:
ZNNCIEZ DN Owners of the Company
TIALTEREFAZE Total comprehensive expenses for
X H4R%E the year attributable to:
ZN/NCIEZ DN Owners of the Company
BREF,(FE) Earnings/(loss) per share:
- ERREE - basic and diluted
13

—E_=F
2023
FET
HK$'000

(497,677)

(423,600)

(497,677)

(79.43)584

HK$(79.43) cent

—E—_—F
2022
FiEx
HK$°000

(159,189)

1,404

(159,189)

(KB &)
(Restated)

0.307% 1l

HK$0.30 cent

N
D]

]_j\o

BEPM 2 P RE AR B B TS R 2 AR D

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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e BRI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEZZFT-=F+=ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

—E = —E__—F

2023 2022

B &E FET TEx
Notes HK$'000 HK$’'000

FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
M - BB MR Property, plant and equipment 14 1,020,495 1,337,361
EREEE Right-of-use assets 15 31,738 40,629
EmEEE Intangible assets 16 13,196 20,939
TRiEE Mining rights 17 35,871 46,545
EMBEERTE Total non-current assets 1,101,300 1,445,474
REVEE CURRENT ASSETS
58 Inventories 19 103,387 192274
BB R R RN R Trade and bills receivables 20 3,205 1,498
FBRRIE - ek Prepayments, deposits and
H b e U Fh I8 other receivables 21 185,724 190,514

b /NG E e Amount due from an intermediate

holding company 26 8,961 -
JrE L FR 5K Tax recoverable = 5117
EERRITER Pledged bank deposits 22 = 9,698
RekReFEER Cash and cash equivalents 22 39,954 28,599
MENEEMREE Total current assets 341,231 427,700
REEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FEfE 5B Trade payables 23 15,472 17,449
Hin N RIBRETE A Other payables and accruals 24 25,752 23,244
AHEaE Contract liabilities 24 26,477 14,598
Bx Borrowings 25 111,228 114,592
JEAT B R Tax payable - -
JER B RER A AIFRIA Amount due to an immediate holding

company 26 5,822 2,871
MENBERE Total current liabilities 184,751 172,754
RENEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 156,480 254,946
EEABEIABERE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES 1,257,780 1,700,420

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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mEMBRRR(E)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
HEZT-=F+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

—E_=F —E__—F

2023 2022

B 5E FET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$’'000

FRBEME NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
RIEIA Deferred revenue 27 66,881 69,354
B Borrowings 25 223,620 205,512
AR ES Convertible bonds 28 347,170 320,048
EERRIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 29 7,148 9,554
EREBEERTE Total non-current liabilities 644,819 604,468
EEFE NET ASSETS 612,961 1,095,952
= EQUITY
RATEE AR Equity attributable to owners of

the Company
BT Issued capital 30 5,926 3,950
G Reserves 32 607,035 1,092,002
EmAE TOTAL EQUITY 612,961 1,095,952

RESOEFVISAZREMBHREN-ZE
—ME=A=-t/\BREEFeEHEFE
R WA THEERERES

AL P
Mr. Shum Sai Chit
EF

Director

B M 2 M S AR B B IS R 2 A AKER

o

D i

The consolidated financial statements on pages 56 to 178 were
approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors on
28 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

tET R L £
Ms. Chi Sile
EF

Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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REEZEBR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEZZFT-=F+=ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

EREH 78k
BE) by R BHEE EERE  ANEE EX RS
kA& HER  HARE (M) i (WEEi)  OREEGD)  EfeRfe ffF  REEA
Capital
redemption  Convertible Statutory Merger Exchange
[ssued  premium  Contributed reserve  bonds equity option reserve reserve Other  fluctuation ~ Retained
capital ~account  surplus  [notelill  reseve  reserve  [noteliil)  [otelv)  reseve  reserve earnings Total
Tin T T Thn ThEn ThEn ThEn TEn Thn TR TR ThR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000
R-%--6-5-8 Asat 1 January 2022 098439 1962834 2976 419 - 30,324 1188% (1500592 [44,209) (20931) 31986 1188942
¢F il Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - - 1,404 1,404
EREMRERY Other comprehensive
MRHER - expense for the year,
net of income tax:
BERNZBEEL Exchange differences
EAZE arising from
translations of foreign
operations - - - - - - - (160593) - (105
EE2EGHMA Total comprehensive
iz [expense)fincome for
the year - - - - - - - - - e 1406 [199,189)
RAEA(H330) Capital reorganisation
[note 30) [635,147) 895,147 - - - - - - - - -
EGUUREIES Issue of shares, net of
REHA ) transaction cost
[note o) 658 897 - - - - - - 29,630
EMaRES () lssue of convertible bonds
[note 6) - - - - 42512 - - - - - - 4251
BRATARESEE Deferred tax related
LEILHE toissuance of
convertible bonds - - - - 6,881 - - - - - - (6.861)
BAERE Share option lapsed - - - - - [599) - - - 5% -
ﬁﬁ:ﬁﬁ Transfer to reserve - - - - - - 1292 - - (1,29 -
RECERNATIRS Equity settled share
based transactions - - - - - 918 - - 918
- As at 31 December 2022
TZRAZT-8R and 1 January 203
Z52=E-A-8 3950 1991606 677123 49 3,601 30,646 120,188 [1,500592) (64,2091 (181,524) 30269 1095952
ERER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - - - lsen (ess00)
EREBRERM Other comprehensive
ARAER expense for the
year, net of income tax:
BEBNSBIEEL Exchange differences
EXzZE arising from
franslations of
foreign operations - - - - - - - - - (7407) - (7607
FEAERAAE Total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - - - - - - - (01 lsgo0  (49767I)
BRERR - 0k Issue ofrights shares,
REAAHY) netof ransaction cost
[note 6) 1976 12710 - - - - - - - - - 16,886
BRANERE Share option lapsed - - - - - 30,644) - - - - 30,646 -
BRGE Transfer to reserves - - - - 5 - - - [57) -
RZSZZE+ZB=1-R  Asat31December 2023 5926 1,604,316 677,123 35,651 120245 [1,500,592) (44,209) (255,601) (30,317) 612,961
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(i)

(i)

(iv)

LERRERSEAMBRANRPOEE HEE
607,035,000/ L (=T = =4 : 1,092,002,0007%
) °

ARNBERHEREA QR RER REERDEAAR
ARG BMNERNARFROEE

EEREEIEEMBARNRTEARAMA([H
B EAEMBREAIMAANI10%RB/ETREE
ELSRENESD -

RIBFPBEIKR Z IB AR 2 BEEIRAA R EE 2
PEDERBIROER - R EME QR AR 10% .2 Nk
FrS B &8 A (12 P BB DX E T IS SR ALk )
TEREERE  MIFR R RERT EMNE QR M
AARE0% o ZEFHEA AN HNBARBEFE
ZEE BAMBARZEEEBRIELMMERR
ZIAS o

REFERRZ2EEEEERER A MAME
ERBEGNE TR AREFRATLIAA
EARRBARBEDRRES - 2FESHA
RGN/ SIRELAZE2EE  THEARRS
K °

EHFERE A HERFER cERRAA &5
TERFEAE -

#

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

REERSER(E)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
E2FT-=F+=HA=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2023

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$607,035,000 (2022:
HK$1,092,002,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the Shares of the
Company which was transferred from the Company’s retained earnings upon
repurchase and cancellation of Shares by the Company.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the subsidiaries based on
10% of their net profit of the People’s Republic of China [the "PRC"] statutory financial
statements and that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries established in the
PRC and the relevant PRC rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to
set aside 10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC statutory financial
statements as statutory reserve, except where the reserve fund balance has reached
50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can only be used to make
good the subsidiaries’ previous years’ losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production
operations or to increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State Administration of Work Safety of
the PRC and other relevant regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds
mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed rates. These funds can
be used for maintenance and/or improvements of safety of these activities, and is not
available for distribution to shareholders.

Merger reserve was arising on the application of merger accounting method in relation
to the combination with entity under common control.
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HERERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEZZFT-=F+=ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

—E-=F

2023

MIEE FET
Notes HK$'000

REEBRERE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Fi AT (E518), i A (Loss)/profit before tax (425,911)
HE - Adjustments for:
e Finance costs 8 48,793
IR R 2 BAREE R Equity-settled share option
expenses 31 -
RITFIBUA Bank interest income b (593)
LEYE - WEREMBIEE  Gain on disposal of items of
2 Was property, plant and equipment 6 (3,454)
B EA KR Gain on debt restructuring 6 =
WEHTE R TRIE Written-off of prepayments =
WEEYZE - BB KRR Written-off of property, plant and
equipment 7 573
HWE - BERZEERZ  Impairment loss recognised on
BEEBE property, plant and equipment 18 188,941
EREEEER Impairment loss recognised on
WEEE right-of-use assets 18 5,876
MBI EERR 2 REEE  Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 18 2,443
IR B EERE Impairment loss recognised on
mining rights 18 6,642
ME - BERBRBITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 14 99,625
EREEECITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 1,336
BIVEE 2 #H Amortisation of intangible assets 16 4,503
PRUEHE 2 3 Amortisation of mining rights 17 2,416
JEWE SRHTEEEEEIE  (Reversal of)/allowance for expected
(B m) Bt credit loss on trade receivables 20 (3,948)
e RAEMEWFRIE 2 (Reversal of]/allowance for
FEHEEER expected credit loss on deposits
(B ERE), and other receivables 21 (44)
LEERFEAIZ Operating cash flows before changes
KERERE in working capital (72,802)
FERD Decrease in inventories 83,526
JE W B 55 R 3R % B W R 1 Decrease in trade and bill receivables
Ve 2,156
TEfTFIE ~ e REAMEY  Increase in prepayments, deposits and

SR 1

other receivables

(1,994)
FERTE SR CR L), /1N (Decrease)/increase in trade payables (1,380)
HMENKIE - EstEM K& Increase/(decrease) in other payables,

BHEELM ()

accruals and contract liabilities 20,933

—E__—F
2022
FET
HK$°000

5,632
20,923

918
(600)

(2,280)
(267,382)
28,620
183
58,631
1,957

942

110,144
1,439
1,448

104,173
18

64,766
5,502
37,152

(31,125)
5,266

(40,418)
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FERERER(E)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
HEZT-=F+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

gz

Notes
REEBMS RS Cash generated from operations
BiR/(BR)FEHE Income taxes refund/(paid)
REEXBZRERAFHE Net cash flows generated from

operating activities

REXBZHERE

BN

HEWE - BERRED
FR1S30R

BAME  BEIRBER

B IRAE T2

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES
Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment

Purchases of items of property, plant

and equipment

Decrease in pledged bank deposits

BREXH 2 REMEIFHE

Net cash flows used in investing

activities

BMEXBZRERE
EFS
BATIRAFTS TR

8 3
AERATERES Y
(B30, R B

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Interest paid
Proceed from issuance of
share capital
Repayment of borrowings

(Repayment from]/advance to current
accounts with holding companies

ME RGBS/ (FTR) Net cash flows generated from/
W& m L FEE (used in) financing activities

HeRkBHEEHEEBEEZ NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
B hnEEE CASH EQUIVALENTS

FUzBR e RREEHEEAR
SNESTE R BT R - R

Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate

changes, net

FRZRERREEHEIRHE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

END OF YEAR

HEeRESEEEBAROM ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH

Re RIRTTHEE

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

22

—E_=F
2023
FET
HK$'000

593
4,925
(28,069)
9,698

(12,853)

(8,474)

14,686
(901)

(6,010)

(699)

22,231

28,599

(10,876)

39,954

—E—_—F
2022
FiEx
HK$°000

41,143

(13,061)

28,082
600

3,403

(5,423)
(1,420)

(429)

(34,621)

13,072
(21,978)

4,684
25,078

(1,163)

28,599

28,599

BB B 2 P FE 73 AN AR & BE 75 3R 3R 2 AR AP

AN o

7]

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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[RAR] e RAFZ2FEBEEEMIL
NEBNERDEEEHBEHAE
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ERHE S BEMMEMR °

REEZER  ARBIZEEER
RAER/NEBRIBESEMALA
A]Ming Xin Developments Limited -
MERERAFANEB R
ZEEFEMAKZ AR Alpha Sino
Limited °
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EREOZ THE(TET -
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A
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AR RBRIERBRREELRE L EE
TIRER AR (LB EENE
O A& & %85101,750,000%7 hi3k 7T
ZREZE(HLEXEFTEDD
(A RRR—_E-_ZEF A=A
BEEHEP—RZBTEEAZRAR
Aok BB A FEE H 422,870,000
BITERSINEGTHE - BRAH
AREeWEIEEANE —FRA
It AT ELEKAEES
TEIOEOESH  HANRKRE
KEE: (V- DEREFEREZT
HEMRE B A ([HERABREEALD
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company
is located at 16th Floor, Tower 5, The Gateway, Harbour City,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the manufacture
and sale of magnesium products.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Ming Xin Developments Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the
ultimate holding company is Alpha Sino Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ["HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company. All values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators

On 3 July 2020, the Company announced (i) Century Sunshine
Group Holding Limited ["CS”), the controlling shareholder of
the Company, defaulted in the redemption of its SGD101.75
million in principal amount of subordinated notes (the
“CS Payment Default”); (ii] the Company had received on
30 June 2020 a demand from one of the bank creditors
for the repayment of borrowings of the Company or its
subsidiaries of approximately HK$22.87 million plus interest
accrued and believed it was likely to receive further calls
from its creditors; (iii) the CS Payment Default constituted
an event of default in respect of certain borrowings of the
Group, which became immediately payable on demand;
(iv] a winding-up petition has been filed on 3 July 2020 to
the Supreme Court of Bermuda on behalf of the Company
together with an application for the appointment of joint
provisional liquidators ("JPLs") on a “light touch” basis that
the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) will
retain management of the Company while the JPLs will work
alongside the Company’'s management to, amongst other
things, monitor, supervise and oversee the implementation
of a group-wide holistic and coordinated restructuring of
its debts and liabilities (the “Proposed Restructuring Plan”)
including to maintain the listing of the Company on the Stock
Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators (continued)

On 16 July 2020, an order was granted by the Supreme Court
of Bermuda for the appointment of Mr. Yen Ching Wai David
and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita of Ernst & Young Transactions
Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young, and Ms. Tammy
Karina Fu of EY Cayman Ltd as JPLs of the Company with
the power to act jointly and severally. On 7 August 2020, the
Bermuda Court accepted the resignation of Mr. Yen Ching
Wai David. The JPLs appointment order remains in force in
respect of Mr. Roy Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina Fu and Ms. So
Kit Yee Anita as JPLs.

On 25 August 2020, the High Court of The Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region has granted the recognition order in
respect of the appointment and powers of the JPLs in Hong
Kong.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators (continued)

On 25 February 2021, the Company received a petition (the
“Petition”) filed by Al Global Investment SPC acting on
behalf of and for the account of Al Investment Fund S.P. (the
“Petitioner”) on 22 February 2021 against the Company in the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the "Court”) for an order that the Company be wound up by
the Court. The Petition was filed against the Company for
its failure to repay the Petitioner an outstanding principal
of the Notes (as defined below] together with the unpaid
interest and default interest in an aggregate amount of
US$20,707,777.78, which was pursuant to a subscription
agreement of 7% unsubordinated and unsecured notes due
2020 in a principal amount of US$20,000,000 (the “Notes”)
entered into between the Petitioner as subscriber and the
Company as the issuer dated 7 August 2017. The hearing of
the Petition has been adjourned to be heard together with
sanction hearing for the creditors’ scheme and presently
fixed for 27 May 2022.

The Company proposed a scheme of arrangement to the
related scheme creditors (“the Creditors” Scheme”) on 18
January 2022 and the Creditors” Scheme was approved by
the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme creditors
on 1 March 2022 and was approved by the High Court of
Hong Kong on 27 May 2022. The Creditors” Scheme became
effective on 31 May 2022. Since then, the Company had made
the application to the Supreme Court of Bermuda for the
withdrawal of the Bermuda Petition and the discharge of the
appointment of joint provisional liquidators. On 8 October
2022, the Company has received the discharge order dated
15 August 2022 granted by the Bermuda Court.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

AR/
itk i
ey BETERR/ AR
Place of AMRAEE ARaEEREZEDLL id]
incorporation/ Nominal value Percentage of equity Proportion
£ registration of issued ordinary attributable to ofvoting FEXH
Name and business share/registered capital the Company power held  Principal activities
Bk L5
Direct Indirect
HERARHRARAR R ARE17,8000007T - 100 0% REREEZE
(ki 2l BiEER
Kinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium The PRC RMB171,800,000 Manufacture and trading
Products Company Limited of magnesium related
(‘Xinjiang Tengxiang’) products
ALmAL e BEER R ARB280332000T - 100 0% REREERE
N SREER
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium The PRC RMB280,332,000 Manufacturing and trading
Resources Company Limited of magnesium
related products
HERRIT A RARAT R AEH1,0000007 - 100 0% RERHELR
Xinjiang Rare Magnesium New SiBEm
Material Technology Co. Ltd The PRC RMB,000,000 Manufacturing and trading
of magnesium
related products
REREHRERARLA B 1031087 - 100 0% REMRR
China Rare Earth Magnesium Hong Kong HK$10,310 Investment holdings
Technology Holdings Limited
BRI RERRERRAT B 187 - 100 100%  REAR
Hong Kong New Materials Industry - Hong Kong HK$1 Investment haldings

Investments Limited

ERBIESRRYANEE 2 AF
EXEREARFENEARAEEE
EFEZEREN 2 ARANER
Al BEEZRR - RHEMHNE QR
ZRHBERERERBNRITE °

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time,
the following new and amendments to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ["HKICPA"] which
are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1
January 2023:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022
amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform
Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSI(s)") (continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance and
examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help
entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more
useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose
their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement
to disclose their ‘material” accounting policies and adding
guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in
making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions,
but has affected the disclosures of accounting policies as set
out in note 3.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 8 - Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. They also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 - Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning liabilities. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments shall be applied to transactions related to
leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings or other component of
equity as appropriate at that date. For all other transactions,
the amendments are applied to those transactions that
occur after the beginning of the earliest period presented.

The Group previously applied HKAS 12 requirements to
the relevant assets and liabilities as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities
are assessed on a net basis. Upon application of the
amendments, the Group has recognised a separate deferred
tax asset and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-
use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments has no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSI(s)") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
the related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements—
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan
that contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause'

Non-current Liabilities with

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Covenants'
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements '

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSI(s)") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
[continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("co”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
assets.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of Preparation (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payments, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted] in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The material accounting policies are set out below.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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ZE - =F+=A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to being their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity],
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee [i.e. existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee:

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’'s
profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivables. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The acquired processes are considered substantive if they
are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs,
including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes
or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay
in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

e assets [or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

e lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments [as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or [b] the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liguidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests” proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the "measurement period” (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued)
Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a
liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted
for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a b-step approach to revenue recognition:

e Stepl: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

e Stepb: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’'s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’'s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of magnesium
products is recognised at a point in time when control of the
products has transferred, being at the point the products are
delivered to the customer and the customer has accepted
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer, and either the customer has
accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point
in time that the consideration is unconditional because only
the passage of time is required before the payment is due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that become
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
gains or losses, net”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of
the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress), are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Property, Plant and Equipment and depreciation (continued)

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item] is included in profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 3%

Leasehold land and buildings

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 6% to 25%

Plant and machinery 10% to 25%

Motor vehicles 15% to 25%
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Property, Plant and Equipment and depreciation (continued)

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and equipment that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee [continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and the
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers those payments occurs and are included in
“Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee [continued)

Lease liabilities (continued]

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets]
whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued)
Leases (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease
liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments using
the unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease
modification is required by interest rate benchmark reform
if, and only if, both of these conditions are met:

e the modification is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform: and

e the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).

Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Intangible Assets (continued)
Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination [continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Patent

Expenditure on acquired patent is capitalised and amortised
using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life
of 9 to 16 years, from the date when the patent is available
for use.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining rights and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, mining rights and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss [if any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights, and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset [or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit] is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
to disposal (if measurable), its value in use [if determinable]
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining rights
are amortised on the production quantities over the total
estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are written off to
the profit or loss if the mining property is abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Foreign Currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value, are included in profit or
loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rates of exchange prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (i.e. the translation reserve] (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of
the Group’'s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint
control over jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement Benefit Costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve
will be transferred to retained profits.
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(2 EF - =F+=-A=1+—HI-FE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’'s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years,
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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ZE - =F+=A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax base
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred
tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not
subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on
the date of remeasurement or modification.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. In the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts] through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income ["FVTOCI"), and fair
value through profit or loss ["FVTPL").
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued]

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’'s business model for
managing them.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)]

A financial asset is held for trading if:

(i)

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument. In addition, the Group
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business
model for managing them.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued]

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income [continued)

(ii)

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below]. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
Is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Fina

ncial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e  an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent
to which the fair value of a financial asset has
been less the then its amortised cost;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets [continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)

(i) EERMIEEEEME) (i)  Significant increase in credit risk [continued)
. ﬁﬁ“ﬁ”“%% 5 B B R 3k e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
TREREE R X the operating results of the debtor;
e BHEBLHEEREKEN e an actual or expected significant adverse change
ANig TBENEBHES - in the regulatory, economic, or technological
BN EMIRIENER K environment of the debtor that results in a
TEHR B R A FIE YL o significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
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its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)

(ii)

Definition of default

(iii)

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b] & breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

(e] the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)

(v] Measurement and recognition of ECL [continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

J External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception for trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
Is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables
and accruals, lease liabilities, borrowings and amount due
to an immediate holding company.

Convertible note

The component parts of the convertible note are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
A conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of
a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)]

Convertible note [continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
Is estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability
that does not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity
until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share
premium. Where the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date of the convertible note, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to accumulated
losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs relating to the issuance of the convertible
note are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction cost relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related Parties Transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

or

(2) The party is an entity where any of the following
condition applies:

(i} the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv] one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

[v] the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers of the
post-employment benefit plan;

[vi] the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1);
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related Parties Transactions (continued)

(2) The party is an entity where any of the following
condition applies: (continued]

(vi) a person identified in (1](i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023
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(2 EF - =F+=-A=1+—HI-FE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimation (see below), that the director of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’'s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.

(a)

Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Right-of-use
assets, Intangible assets and Mining Rights

The Group evaluates whether property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and
mining right with finite useful lives have suffered any
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not
be recoverable, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 3. The recoverable amounts of the Group’s
CGUs represent the higher of the asset’s fair value less
costs to disposal or its value-in-use. The calculations of
fair value less costs to disposal or value-in-use require
the use of estimates and assumptions. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates
or the future revenue in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts. As at 31
December 2023, the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and
mining rights subject to impairment assessment were
approximately HK$1,020,495,000(2022: HK$1,337,361,000),
HK31,738,000 (2022: HK$40,629,000), HK$13,196,000
(2022: HK$20,939,000) and HK$35,781,000 (2022:
HK$46,545,000) respectively after taking into account the
impairment losses of approximately HK$188,941,000 (2022:
HK$58,631,000), HK$5,876,000 (2022: HK$1,957,000],
HK$2,443,000 (2022: HK$942,000) and HK$6,642,000 (2022:
HK$nil in respect of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights that
have been recognised respectively.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty /continued)

(a)

(b)

Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Right-of-use
Assets, Intangible Assets and Mining Rights (continued)

Details of the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets and mining rights are disclosed in note 18.

Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets, Property, Plant and
Equipment, Intangible Assets and Mining Rights

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation/amortisation
charges for its right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and mining rights.
This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of right-of-use assets,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of
similar nature and functions and the mineral reserve
determined by independent technical adviser. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to market
conditions. Management will increase the depreciation/
amortisation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or nonstrategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group did not change the estimated useful lives
of right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and mining rights.
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ZE - =F+=A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty /continued)

(c)

Provision for Expected Credit Losses on Trade Receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns [i.e., by
geography, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit
insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic products] are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in notes 20 and
40 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported internally to the chief operating
decision makers for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on types
of goods or services delivered or provided. The Group
is principally engaged in one single segment, which is
manufacturing and selling magnesium related products
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. A single
management team reports to the chief operating decision
makers who comprehensively manages such entire business
segment. Accordingly, the Group does not have separately
reportable segments.

Geographical information

(a)  Revenue from external customers

HE (BRI

Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong)

— —E -
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000

263,491 383,899

FRBABRIREFPAELE
5l o

b) FERBEE

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b)  Non-current assets

HEI(FEBRIN

Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong]

—E_=F =B
2023 2022
TFET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000

LR EEEIREERN
EHE2 -

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Information about major customers

Sales to a single customer contributed 10% or more of the
Group's revenue during the year is as bellows:

ZEA Customer A
=FB Customer B

—EC=4 —E__—F
2023 2022
TET FExT
HK$’000 HK$'000

44,732 74,853
43,738 A N/A

B EXFIHEEEN  MEEAMES
HAEBFARNBRWABTR10%K A
J:O

WA - EftlRmsEsE - F 6

EREXREA RS
WA - B SR  FE A
mF

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10%
or more to the Group's total revenue for the year.

REVENUE, OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET AND GAIN ON DEBT
RESTRUCTURING

An analysis of revenue and other gains or losses, net is as
follows:

—E_F
2022
FET
HK$’000
RE—EHER Revenue from contract with
REEFEHNZRA customer recognised at a point in time
HEETBHEEER Sale of magnesium related products 263,491 383,899
H b a2 ok E5 18 5 58 Other gains or losses, net
RITHE A Bank interest income 593 600
SHERER Sales of scrap materials 621 656
HEREBRME BB Loss on disposal of idled raw materials (13,701) 1,215
HEWE - WEREEZWE  Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 3,454 2,280
HEWA Rental income 5,582 4,010
HAt Others (2,517) (1,186)
(5,968) 7,575

FIEMABHFRER—FHIUD -
MBEEFBRELEAE 15K ER
REMANA YEFRESEERE
TTRHNRZHER

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted
by practical expedient under HKFRS 13, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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REVENUE, OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET AND GAIN ON DEBT
RESTRUCTURING /continued)

Gain on debt restructuring

The Group's creditors’ scheme ("Creditors” Scheme”] was
approved by the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme
creditors at the meeting of Creditors’ Schemes held on 1
March 2022. The Creditors” Scheme was also sanctioned by
the High Court of Hong Kong on 27 May 2022. Since then, the
Creditors’ Scheme became effective on 31 May 2022.

As at 25 July 2022, the scheme administrators have received
the preference indication forms from all scheme creditors
and the admitted claims have been allocated in the following
manner:

Under the terms of the 5 years term extension option ["Option
A"), full repayment of admitted claims will be made to the
Option A creditors and the repayment date will be extended
for a period of five years beginning from the effective date on
31 May 2022. As part of the Creditors’ Scheme, the Company
issued 65,843,900 new ordinary shares ("Scheme Shares”)
of which HK$29,630,000 being approximately 20% of the
currently issued shares of the Company in July 2022 for the
term extension interest and term extension potential extra
payment, will be issued to the scheme administrator to be
held on behalf of the Option A Creditors. The term extension
interest will be paid to each Option A Creditor by the Scheme
Company on an annual basis or;.

Under the terms of convertible bonds swap option ("Option
BJ, the Company issued convertible bonds in the fair value
of approximately HK$352,175,000. The latter offers the
conversion of admitted claims into convertible Bonds with a
maturity date of the fifth anniversary of the scheme effective
date.
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WA - i S sEE - F

EREXEAKEE
EREHNEE

RIBERAE  BaE(BETEE
BERA® & FEETFIE)49847,781,000
BTCEBBRISPEELERAFH
RBEEERITBRESFSHER
EeREI BT - —_F+_-A
—t—HIEFERRAEEEMARKE
#49267,382,0007 7T

HE— A HBBEL2HARREHRAC
T _FRA=ZAR-_ZTE-__F+
B+ ~AMAE -

REVENUE, OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET AND GAIN ON DEBT
RESTRUCTURING /continued)

Gain on debt restructuring (continued)

Pursuant to the Creditors” Scheme, the liabilities, including
the principals and accrued interests of the scheme debts,
amounted to approximately HK$847,781,000 have been
discharged and allocated into a 5-year term extension option
or a convertible bonds swap option. Accordingly, a gain on
debt restructuring of approximately HK$267,382,000 has

been recognized for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the

Company dated 3 May 2022 and 26 July 2022.

FET
HK$°000
ERBEEAGTEBEREN Asset transferred pursuant to the
BE: Creditors’ Scheme:
HEIR D Scheme Shares (29,630)
EIRBEREAGTE Liabilities assumed pursuant to the
AENEE Creditors’ Scheme:
AR ES - BEEH (FiTEE28) Convertible bonds - Liability components
(Note 28] (309,663)
AR ES - #Em o (I 5E28) Convertible bonds - Equity components (Note 28) (42,512)
fE R (151 25) Borrowings (Note 25) (198,594)
(550,769)
ERBEEREAGE Liabilities discharged pursuant to the
RBRNEE : Creditors’ Scheme:
H A e~ 58 K pE st B A (BT 5 24) Other payables and accrued expenses (Note 24) 77,203
JE A~ — 28 I SR A (B 5 26) Amount due to a shareholder (Note 24) 50,159
B (M 5E25) Borrowings (Note 25) 720,419
847,781
B EANK Gain on debt restructuring 267,382

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023



BiAl (B1]) &R

AEBEZHAT(EBER), 8 E

B3 AR A ()
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-_T-=F+=-HA=+—HIL%JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

7. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after

B GEA) THIEE - charging/[crediting):
—EZ=F B F
2023 2022
FExT FE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
HEFE A Cost of inventories sold* 268,052 252,536
M - BB MR ETE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment*# 99,625 110,144
M - BB KR Written-off of property, plant
and equipment* 573 183
NRIEEE 2 BREER Equity-settled share option expenses = 918
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets* 1,336 1,439
HEWE - WEREHE2ZWE  Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (3,454) (2,280)
ME - BB MREHER Impairment loss recognised on property,
BIEEE plant and equipment 188,941 58,631
EREEERRZRERBE Impairment loss recognised on
right-of-use assets 5,876 1,957
B EERRZBEEE Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 2,443 942
PRUE R 5 Amortisation of mining rights* 2,416 -
PRIERERE R 2 R E B 18 Impairment loss recognised on mining
right 6,642 -
W HTR N R Written-off of prepayment = 28,620
I A E#E Amortisation of intangible assets* 4,503 1,448
A G Auditors’ remuneration* 800 1,000
EERAFAX Employee benefit expense
(BIEEESHM) (including directors’ remuneration)
Iﬁ %?%&E%?‘Eﬂ Wages and salaries and benefits in kind 31,580 37,402
RURET B Pension scheme contributions Al 783
32,371 38,185
PE N ZFE - JFEE* Foreign exchange differences, net* 2,786 4,412
JEWE 5 AR 5/ 78 HA (Reversal of]/allowance for expected
SEEBRERR),BE credit loss on trade receivables (3,948) 104,173
E A EWGRIE 2 (Reversal of)/allowance for
TREEEEE expected credit loss
(BRI st on other receivables (44) 18
# STAGRABRREMEERARZIHERK # Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
7] other comprehensive income
* FPABARRERAMEERARZTTEX * Included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or
x| loss and other comprehensive income
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8. BiKEH 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E=F —E-—F
2023 2022
FET TFEx
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BRAFAEEEEZRITR  Interest on bank and other borrowings
/H\’rﬂl{ﬁw\ﬂ wholly repayable within five years 3,620
EREAGTEI TEZIMERFIE  Effective interest expenses on
Fx borrowings under the Creditors’
Scheme 6,918
BREAGTEI T AIESME  Effective interest expenses on
BRI BRI X convertible bonds under the
Creditor's Scheme 10,385
20,923
9. EEME 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(a) EEHEN (a) Directors’ Emoluments
BE_S-_=—F+-_A=+— The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31
AEFERES 2HMET w0 December 2023 are set below:
™
‘ Rk
He ¢ B HEE
Pension
Share scheme
Fees Salaries options contribution Total
FET TET TET TET TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HTESE Executive directors
Tt Shum Sai Chit
ke Chi Sile

BUEHITES Independent

non-executive directors

BRX Kwong Ping Man
REX Cheung Sound Poon
Mg Lin Pengxuan

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
122 Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(a)

Directors’ Emoluments /continued)

T =F+="A=+—HI15Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31

December 2022 are set below:

BIkE
e e BRE it BIAEK ait
Pension
Share scheme
Fees Salaries options contribution Total
Thx Thx Thx TER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BITES Executive directors
LR Shum Sai Chit 600 - 134 - 734
NS ChiSile 600 - - 45 645
BUFHITES Independent
non-executive directors
BRX Kwong Ping Man 30 - 2 - 52
REA Cheung Sound Poon 30 - 2 - 52
BB Kwan Ngai Kit"! 15 - 1 - 2
i Lin Pengxuan® 8 - - - 8
1,283 - 189 45 1,917

m RIEZZFRA-+TLHERE

@ RZBZ—FAAZTBEZRE

BHE T -_=Fr-ZE-_—

+-—A=+—BIFE &%
EERAREETRNESSN
ERME - UBEFEEMALRE
%ﬁ%ﬁ$%@’ﬁ¢ﬁ%%
ffME -

RAFEER > WEEEZ LA
MIMEXRERETMANS 2
TH(ZE - —F )

m retired on 27 June 2022

@ appointed on 20 September 2022

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the

year (2022: nil).
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10. REFHFMAL 10.
AEEFENTFHESHREES S
EME(CE-_—_F WA)ES
HEMEBEEN EXHE9 - Flsh
ZR(CEo—F ZR)FHES

BE(UFARBEFHTETHA
B)MFERFMFBOT

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two (2022: two) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

—E_=F —E_—
2023 2022
FAT FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
e EMAEYHE Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,590
BREER Share option expenses 22
IRIRETEIH R Pension scheme contributions 29
1,641

FHANFUTHRENFHESHE
BQUIFARRBESR) ABIT

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

Z%1,000,000 /&7

Nil to HK$1,000,000

—ZE-= —_E__—F
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000

3
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HEZT-=F+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

The amount of income tax credit/expense charged/(credited)
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represents:

—E-=F =B
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000

BIHARE IR - Current tax:
- ARG - PRC Enterprises Income Tax 4,305
EIERIE (FF5E29) Deferred taxation (Note 29) (77)
4,228

ERANBANEF,(BIR) WAARR
ARERSHHNBARMERR,
AAEBAERRAE 2 RIAX
HENERBRERGFE 2 HA LY
B URGERBE(ADAEN )&
ERBRZERMT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e. the
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

—_E_= S =
2023 2022
TFET TFET
HK$’000 HK$’000

FiAT(E518), % T (Loss)/profit before tax (425,911) 5,632
BEEMEFTE 2B Tax at the statutory tax rates (87,294) 823
BENTZ A Income not subject to tax (163) (44,217)
ARMHOF 2 2 Expenses not deductible for tax 36,871 41,430
RN TERR 2 B IEEE Tax losses not recognised 48,275 6,192
BRAEBEERMEAE Tax [credited)/charge at the

ZRHIEER) T Group's effective rate (2,311) 4,228

WERBREER AR AR 125
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INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continued)

(a)

(b)

Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment]) (No. 7]
Bill 2017 (the "Bill") which introduces the two-tiered
profits tax rate regime. The Bill was signed into law on
28 March 2018 and was gazette on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits tax above HK$2 million
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profit
tax rates require as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statement. Hong Kong Profits tax is
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for both years. No tax is payable for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: nil) since there was no
assessable profit generated in Hong Kong.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% on
the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors do not recommend the payment of
any dividend for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

—E-= —E__F
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000

FEERERREE (Loss]/profit for the year attributable to
(B8, BFFA® owners of the Company for the
RRARER AEBIEER purpose of basic and diluted (loss)/
(&18) a F earnings per share
(423,600) 1,404
BE+T-A=1+T—HBLEE
Year ended 31 December
(RE5)
(Restated)
ATEERERLEE Weighted average number of ordinary
(E518),/ B FI B A 89 Nt shares for the purpose of basic and
B EREE diluted (loss)/earnings per share

533,312,399 473,610,666

FRAEBITINEFHEBRER A
533,312,399(= T = —F : KEH| A
473,610,666) © B1EH AR kiR
gﬁiwﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ’ﬂéﬁ{,ﬁ%%fﬁﬂ’a%

The weighted average number of ordinary shares of
533,312,399 (2022: Restated as 473,610,666) in issue during
the year, as adjusted to reflect the effect of the share
consolidation and issuance of rights shares as disclosed in
note 30.
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ZE - =F+=A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY /continued)

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average market price of the Company’s
shares during the period) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared with
the number of shares that would have been issued assuming
the exercise of the share options.

The computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share does
not assume the exercise of the Company’s share options
because the exercise price of those share options was
higher than the average market price of shares for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the computation of
diluted earning per share does not assume the conversion
of the Company’s convertible bonds since their assumed
exercise would result in an increase in earning per share.
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14 Y% - BERRKE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

R
BELH £ER BER
kEF EEIR B4 HE
Leasehold Furniture,
landand  Construction fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings i progress equipment machinery vehicles
TR THR TEn Thr Thr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A Cost:
R-E--F-A-H Asat 1 January 2022 1106592 17,473 6,972 1139242 3847 2,274,328
WE Additions - 11,337 12 1413 183 12,945
] Transfer - (53] - 5 - -
& Disposal - - - (2,656) - (2.636)
i Written-off - - - (1,124) (415) (1,739)
& 3 E5 Exchange realignment (83 554) (1,702) (527) (85,942) (276) (172,001)
RZE-Z#+-A=1—H  Asat3 December 2022 and
kZE-=5-f-H 1 January 2023 1,023,038 27,255 6,457 1,050,986 3139 2,110,875
AE Addition - 20,899 - 0,662 1508 28,069
& Disposal (428) - ) 3792) (1,762 (5,991)
i Written-off - - (153) (4,344) (118) 14,615)
B &5 Exchange realignment (36,461) (1840] (227) (37.421) (105) (76,054)
RZEZ=F+2F=+—H  Asat 31 December 2023 986,149 46,314 6,068 1.011,091 2,662 2,052,284
ZiHERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:
R_E-_F-A-H Asat 1 January 2022 (203,224 (1,722) (5,589) (433,948 (2995) (647 478]
KRERHRE Depreciation provided during
the year (40,707) - (941) (68,068) (628) (110,144
BB Impairment (36,084) (2.350] - (22,199) - [58,431)
& Disposal - - - 1533 - 1533
s Written-off - - - 975 51 155
R &5 Exchange realignment 9,389 - 442 29,604 215 39,650
RIEZZETZA=1-8  Asat31 December 2022 and
k=F==5-A-H 1 January 2023 (268,628) 14,07 (8,088) (492,099 (2,621) (773514
RERTRITE Deprecation provided during
the year (62,672) - (88) (56,534) (331) (99,629)
e Impairment (106,378] (6,599) (41) (75,4801 (243) (188,941]
3 Disposal 152 - 8 2,680 1,680 4520
s Written-off - - 147 3,786 109 4,042
& 5 B Exchange realignment 5,93 - 212 15516 8 21729
WZEZ=F+-F=1-H  Asat3!December 2023 (411,590) (10671 (5,850] (602,331) (137 (1031,789)
EEWE Carrying amount:
RIEZZF+2A= As at 31 December 2023 074559 35,643 N8 408,760 1315 1,020,495
H\ eSS E+ As at 31 December 2022 Th4.410 23,183 369 hh8 887 h12 1337361

MR R EERARA A
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S

14.

15.
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M¥ - BERRE® 14.

UL
() AREZEELBRETRBEERZEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT /continued)

Note:

(i) The carrying amount of the Group's leasehold land and buildings reporting

EARAT : periods are analysed as follows:
—EBI=F -2
2023 2022
FiEx FiBx
HK$'000 HK$'000
B A 2 EIFE 4 Medium term leases in Mainland China 574 559 754,410
i) RIBZ=F+-A=+—H0 FEEKE (il Asat 31 December 2023, buildings, plant and machinery of the Group with a

TR{E47216,036,000/8 T2 1EF - R M#EE
(ZZ = =4 : 270,790,000/ jT.) & K 3 A
EEAEBEAER 2 RITEEE(HE25)

ME - BELEERENAFE
IR A MG MAR 18

FEREEE 15.

net carrying amount of approximately HK$216,036,000 (2022: HK$270,790,000}
were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on property, plant and
equipment are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

R—H—H As at 1 January 40,629
REEHEFTE Depreciation provided during the year (1,336)
BIEEE Impairment loss (5,876)
b . & 51 Exchange realignment (1,679)
WR+Z—A=+—H As at 31 December 31,738

EREEERTMERE BN
BEMET M (EBMRPE) N
IR B E HABR AR & BRI B AR o

WZE-_=F+=-_A=+—H " &

& EX15,355,0008 T (2=
— 4 19,685,000/ 7T) 2 FE LA

IR TR (HIFE25) ©

EREEE RENAFBRN
BB HRRMIFEIS

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

The right-of-use assets represent the land use rights,
comprising cost of acquiring rights to use certain land,
which are principally located in the PRC, for operating
purposes over fixed periods.

As at 31 December 2023, right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$15,355,000 (2022: HK$19,685,000) have
been pledged to secure bank borrowings (note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on right-of-use assets are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

-1
Patent
FHET
HK$'000
A Cost:
R-E-_—_F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 54,891
PE 3 & 5| Exchange realignment (4,144)
RZFE-_—_F+=-_A=+—A8K As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
—E-=F—H—H 50,747
b 5, & 5] Exchange alignment (1,809
R-ZF-_=%+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023 48,938
Rt #H RRE - Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
R_ZE_—_F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 29,485
NELZHE Amortisation for the year 1,448
BIEEE Impairment loss 942
b . & 5] Exchange alignment (2,067)
RZE-Z—_F+-_A=+—HK As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
—E2-=%—H—H 29,808
NEE Amortisation for the year 4,503
BIEREE Impairment loss 2,443
e 5, & 5| Exchange alignment (1,012)
R-ZE_=%+-RA=+—H As at 31 December 2023 35,742
BRMEE : Carrying amount:
R-ZBZ=F+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2023 13,196
RIB-_F+-_HA=+—H As at 31 December 2022 20,939

BRVEEZRENSFBIANGS
RIS RAPRE18

Details of the impairment testing on intangible assets are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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S

132

PRUERE 17. MINING RIGHTS
FExT
HK$°000
RS Cost:
W_E__F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 60,357
b 5, & 51 Exchange realignment (4,557)
R_E-_—_F+_HA=+—H As at 31 December 2022 and
MZZT-=F—H—H 1 January 2023 55,800
b 54, & 5] Exchange realignment (1,989)
R-ZB-=%+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023 53,811
Rt Accumulated amortisation:
W_ZE_—_F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 10,135
NEE#EH Amortisation for the year -
M 5 &5 Exchange realignment (880)
—E-_CFT-A=T-AK As at 31 December 2022 and
—ET-=F—H—H 1 January 2023 9,255
NEEHE Amortisation for the year 2,416
BIEEE Impairment loss 6,642
b . & 51 Exchange realignment (373)
R-ZZB-=%+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023 17,940
BRMEE : Carrying amount:
REZBZ=H+-"A=1t—H As at 31 December 2023 35,871
R-ZB-—_F+-_HA=+—H As at 31 December 2022 46,545

BHRIODURPEEMHEAILTHA
EOBEHRIERE - UELORENE

BT LAB

RERHEENAZFBENES

W

TR MIFES

1

The balance represents mining rights of the dolomite mine
located in Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which is
amortised by the production quantity over the ore reserve.

Details of the impairment testing on mining rights are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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BT =F+ZA=+—HIE%JE For the year ended 31 December 2023
IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
AND MINING RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
business was underperformed and incurred losses
due to the constraints to working capital. In view of the
economic performance of the cash generating unit ("CGU")
of magnesium product business which was worse than
expected, management of the Group concluded there was
an indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$1,020,495,000 (2022:
HK$1,337,361,000), HK$31,738,000 (2022: HK$40,629,000),
HK$13,196,000 (2022: HK$20,939,000) and HK$35,871,000
(2022: HK$46,545,000], respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU, to
which the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, including allocation of
corporate assets when reasonable and consistent basis can
be established. The carrying amounts of assets of CGU was
approximately HK$1,101,300,000 (2022: HK$1,445,474,000).

The recoverable amount of CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management of the Group covering the following 5 years
with a post-tax discount rate is 13.90% (2022: 14.41%) as
at 31 December 2023. The cash flows beyond the five-year
(2022: five-year] period are extrapolated using 2.16% (2022:
2%) growth rate, which is based on the industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the long-term average growth
rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for
the value in use calculated is the budgeted revenue, gross
margin and operating expenses which are determined
based on the cash-generating unit's past performance and
management expectations for the market development.

HERHERIERBR AR
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19.
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Y% - BERRME - EFAB 18, IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EE BRELEEREEEZ EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
ZRIERERAE) AND MINING RIGHTS (continued)
BERENGEER  ANEEETEE Based on the result of the impairment assessment,
ErReEEB DR EER management of the Group determined that the recoverable
REEHEE - BESRESEEZEER amount of the CGU is lower than the carrying amount. The
BERAEAFHOZEYE BE impairment amount has been allocated to each category
wE ERAREERBIZEE of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
NEEREREENROENSREE and intangible assets with finite useful lives such that the
ZEEREAABREEXNAZ &S carrying amount of each category of asset is not reduced
B HEREENT - RIEERE below the highest of its fair value less cost to disposal, its
B ERDE  EEME BE K value in use and zero. Based on the value in use calculation
wis - EREEE BILEERKR and the allocation, impairment loss of approximately
BESROEBENGEARZEFEE HK$188,941,000 (2022: HK$58,631,000), HK$5,876,000
7 Bl HEROR (B B 1B 4)188,941,000 (2022: HK$1,957,000), HK$2,443,000 (2022: HK$942,000) and
BIL(ZE 9 :58,631,000 HK$6,642,000 (2022: HK$nil) has been recognised against
BIL) ~ 5,876,000 (=== the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment,
% :1,957,000/87T) ~ 2,443,000/ right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights
T(ZEZZF : 942,000 1) & respectively within the relevant functions to which these
6,642,000 (ZE-—F : TF assets relate.
JT) °
FE 19. INVENTORIES
—E== —EF
2023 2022
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
R £} Raw materials 108,967
R Finished goods 83,307
192,274

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

—E-=F =B
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEUE 5 BR 3 (ML) Trade receivables (note (i)) 145,687 154,881
Bz B E IR EHE Allowance for expected credit loss (144,038) (153,383)
1,649 1,498
e Bills receivable 1,556 -
3,205 1,498

G Note:

(i) AEBEBRAZFPZESTEURHET L
17 REH—RTHEBIBOKR - BEREFPE
BEREREEE - AEBBREBIZHARE
KRS SR ERBREERE - 8 RE
BEEEROHER o ERX XA -
ZAREEZBBESRIIRREDRZE
P HY\ERNEESTRR - AEEL
L E R E 5 RS S B E R R

S EMERRERE - BERE SRR

=S|

RZE-_—_F#—HF—H " ¥®XB
EFAANERESERN A
206,406,000 7T o

RS B RIZ R A B E D H IR
BEZRRHREREEEERE)
ZERER DTN PR

(i)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The
credit period is generally not over 180 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
reqgularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s trade receivables related to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are interest-free.

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to approximately HK$206,406,000.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for expected credit loss, is as follows:

DH60KR
61E90K

Within 60 days
61 to 90 days

—E_=5F —E__—F
2023 2022
FERT FHET
HK$°000 HK$°000
1,156

342

1,498
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FEWE SRR @)

BURESEFEBPEEERREGE
ZEMT

TRADE RECEIVABLES [continued]

The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
trade receivables are as follows:

—E=HF —=E==

2023 2022

FHET TET

HK$°000 HK$°000

F4 At the beginning of year 153,383 56,902
TEHIEE &8/ F 58 (B E# ), (Reversal of}/allowance for expected

4l credit loss, net (3,948) 104,173

b 5, =R Exchange difference (5,397) (7,692)

RER At the end of year 144,038 153,383

NEWRE HRRB R EREETR
BN UAERHESEERE - &
wERIERAABUEBRRN (AR
iR  EmRBL  FPRIK
AR A RERESREMEANE
AR ERBE)NZ EEF DB
HEMNABEETFIRETE - %t H
RERSEAEMEER  EERER
RS HRASERBESEMN - B
AR S0 Re FEURI 2R 2R A8 37 AR 5 B & 38
EEER - BHREEBRIEHB
FIHIEELO -
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An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit
or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects
the probability weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Details of
assessment of expected credit loss was detailed in Note 40.
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20. EWE RN 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
RABBERESINMAEERE SR Set out below is the information about the credit risk
FIEMEERBRERNT exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision

matrix:

TRHEER RERE BIERE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHERT TET
HK$'000 HK$°000

MRZTEZ=F+ZH=+—H 31 December 2023

BVER (<280 ) Current [not past due) : 1,660 11
BERD 1 Less than 1year past due 144,027 144,027

145,687 144,038

THE R R REAE IR

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TFAT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
WZE-=—F+=A=+—H 31December 2022
BIER (381 HA) Current [not past due) 1.64% 1,523 25
BEADR1F Less than 1 year past due 100% 153,358 153,358
154,881 153,383
JE W E 5 BR SR E AT B B E R Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are

B sE40 o set out in Note 40.

WERBREER AR AR 137
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ZE - =F+ZA=+1+—HI5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

ANRE -  ZEeREMER 0.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

IR
——— —EF
2023 2022
FERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE A~ 2 aE (B &) Prepayments (note (i)) 182,631 186,726
we Deposits 190 253
H th e Yo kE (B (i) Other receivables (note (ii)) 2,996 3,677
185,817 190,656
TEHEEEERE Allowance for expected credit loss (93) (142)
185,724 190,514

e EBHYNE  BHREES
BREEEBEKIAGH -

receivables.
FI5E - Notes:

(i) R-ZZZ=F+=-A=+—8  BNZKEE (i)
BREFE ZFEMNKIEL180,743,0008 T
(ZZT = =4 :182,782,000/87T) °

i) HEEEseREEedn nh B R E a0 E(E (ii)
492,268,000/ 7T (ZF = =4 : 2,223,000
BT

approximately HK$2,268,000 (2022: HK$2,223,000).

we MEMEWHIAEZBREER
BRE2EHMT

None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. The
allowance for expected credit loss was related to other

As at 31 December 2023, prepayments mainly comprise of prepayment of
inventory of approximately HK$180,743,000 (2022: HK$182,782,000).

Other receivable mainly comprise of value-added tax recoverable in the PRC of

The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
deposits and other receivables are as follows:

—E-=5F
2023

T
HK$'000

F ¥ At the beginning of year
TEERE BB (B # ) ## (Reversal of)/allowance for expected

credit loss

ME =58 Exchange difference
RER At the end of year

TERT
HK$°000

132

18
(8)

142

B R E A EWREREF G
EE N AN

receivables are set out in note 40.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other
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2. BERBELEEBFEREIE 22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK

HBRTEXK DEPOSITS
—E-= —EF
2023 2022
FHT FET
HK$ 000 HK$'000
Re RIRTTHERR Cash and bank balances 28,599
EHEFRITER Pledged bank deposits 9,698
38,297

B R EHER(FEE25)  Less: Pledged deposits for

borrowings (note 25) (9,698)
RekBHe&EEIER Cash and cash equivalents 28,599

EHEFRITIER Pledged bank deposits:
T ENEB1D Current portion 9,698

R|EPR - NEBUAAREE
ZHRE MR FEEE A RD BT
RITEFR %’77,%24 621,000 (==
::¢ 38,037, OOO/%T_E) - AR
SEBLBEMER - A R
F¢I%Eﬁﬁhﬂﬁﬁﬁ~%@
ENEEEME  ANEBEEESB
BRI =& L RBORITHA
REHBSEME -

RITRES HRBRITEBRITER
MEZF B RBREA S o 18F A
SEERSFR  BHERFR
ZHRB=EA LLEEZEH
EHTE RN R ERERA B o RITIF K
RERERFRRERFERRR
BT B R A SRS SRR ERTT

RZZF-_=F+=-_H=+—8" E
BIHBRITEREB (T =
%9 698,000 7T) E W FIRTT - L/{
H{%%’K(WEQS)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and pledged bank deposits of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$24,621,000 (2022: HK$38,037,000). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland
China’'s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2023, pledged bank deposit of HK$nil
(2022: approximately HK$9,698,000) was pledged to bank for
secured of borrowings (Note 25).

MR R EERARA A 139
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3. BNEZKRM 23. TRADE PAYABLES
R EBRIEZERBEBE DB ER An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
BHERZERDITIO TR reporting period, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:
—E-=F —E-F
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ENAIFN Within 60 days 5,966
61290K 61 to 90 days 554
FEBI0K Over 90 days 10,929
17,449
ENEZERTFHNE - &EHE The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
BRTHIEI180XK - normally settled within 180-day terms.
2%, HAEATRIERESTEAR 24 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT
BHEE LIABILITIES
—_E-_—F
2022
FHET
HK$'000
fEstE A () Accruals (note (i)) 4,867
B e~ 58 (B EE () Other payables (note (ii)) 18,377
23,244
BHRE P K (iv) Contract liabilities [note [iv]) 14,598

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
11'0 Annual Report 2023



24.

HtENR

AR ETTERAR

EHNEE®

it ERRHE m%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁu
RIRBENRER
g -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

=F+=ZRA=+—8 " EiHRAXE
TARHF S RE TEFL2,492,0008 T
(ZZE=—%F:3,118, DOO)%TE)&FEHﬁ%E
FA#9800,000/8 (= = =4 : 1,749,000/
7o) °

R-ZTEZ=F+=—A=+—A8" Eﬁﬂﬂéh‘
BEEAEMNFELS721,0008T (=%
T4 1 8,474,000587T) °

BEREAFER T —FRA=1T—HEK
& - 2EHIRT7,203,000/8 TTH) K EEEE
ERAREMENRACREEEASES
BARRR o

Eiﬁiiﬁ%iiéﬁaﬁ@ﬁ%ﬂémﬂ% CREE
WERETFTHBINEGHNEHE - HEZZSHE
E’] %1”%5’\%7]*%%“%576&%\7% EON=)

c RFEEHRNE N BERTEP UL
BM 598,000 ,%n(fgffi 26,321,000

BT o AEERRANKEELTEE
EARARD - MR UL AR RAT FRIGR I IE

IERAREBEHRBEMYL  RESE
TS HEHIENYEMBE -

B 7% 3R R = (&)
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HEZT-=F+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

24, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Accruals and other payables are interest-free and repayable
on demand.

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2023, the accrual expenses mainly represent accrual salary
and staff benefit of approximately HK$2,492,000 (2022: HK$3,118,000) and
accrued professional fee of approximately HK$800,000 (2022: HK$1,749,000).

(i) As at 31 December 2023, the other payable was mainly represents interest
payable of approximately HK$3,721,000 (2022: HK$8,474,000).

(iii) Upon the Creditors” Scheme becoming effective on 31 May 2022, the
outstanding accruals and other payable in the amount of approximately
HK$77,203,000 was fully discharged pursuant to the Creditors” Scheme.

(iv) The Group receives certain portion of contract amounts when signing the
contracts with customers on sale of magnesium products. The transaction
price allocated to these sales is recognised as a contract liability at the time
of initial sales transaction. Revenue recognised in the current year that was
included in the contract liability balance was approximately HK$14,598,000
(2022: HK$26,321,000). The Group considers the advance payments schemes
does not contain significant financing component and accordingly the amount
of consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the time value of money taking
into consideration that the payment terms were not structured primarily for the
provision of finance to the Group.

AHaEzEsnmT (v) The movements of contract liabilities are as follows:
—E=-=
2022
FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
R—A—BZ#&#% Balance at 1 January 26,321
BARFEEMENBLHTEER 2 B Revenue recognised from performance obligations
satisfied during the year (14,598) (26,321)
FRARRREER 2 NBEEM Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving
deposits during the year 27,223 16,586
FEH &5 Exchange realignment (1,988
RTZA=+—Bz#i&t# Balance at 31 December 14,598
MR SR EIER G R A A 141
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25.

142

CE 25. BORROWINGS
—E-=F —E-F
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
IRITIB Bank borrowings 69,600 72,173
At R (BT ) Other borrowings (note [ii)) 265,248 247,931
334,848 320,104
&k Borrowings:
—F R iRERKEH Due within one year or on demand 111,228 114,592
M LA H{E R Due within a period of more than two years
F4F BAfE A 5 B but not exceeding five years 223,620 205,512
334,848 320,104
B SIESERB B AR Less: Amounts shown under non-current
liabilities (223,620) (205,512)
SIERE) B fE % #E Amounts shown under current liabilities 111,228 114,592
W BREFGELS Less: The carrying amount of bank and
ERERLHEMARE other borrowings that are
SKIEERVIRTT R E A 1S repayable on demand due to
FERERBEET loan defaults or breach of loan
5 7R) (B EEiv) covenants (shown under current
liabilities) (note iv) (111,228) (114,592)
PR — A SR E R Amounts shown under current liabilities
FERT 2 RITREME K for the bank and other borrowings
JIEREBIBEZ ©F that are repayable within one year or on
demand -
&k Borrowings:
B A ) Secured [note i) 189,782 186,784
gl Unsecured 145,066 133,320
334,848 320,104

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023
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CENC 25. BORROWINGS (continued)
AEFBERZERMNE(REEFRE The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal
KR Z)BEIT - to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are
as follows:
S S
—EBEC=HF S F
ToA=1T—H e s
IEFEE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
FET TiEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
BERRA = Effective interest rate:
[ 7E ) K Fixed-rate borrowings 8.47% 8.47%
TR RE R Variable-rate borrowings 4.25%-5.48% 4.25%-5.48%

tEFRA T I EEEHE -

Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:

—_ZE2—= —E__—F

2023 2022

THT FET

HK$ 000 HK$'000

AR RMB 69,600 72,173
BT HK$ 223,620 205,512
ETT us$ 41,628 42,419
334,848 320,104

B EESRERAT
ge 143

2023 BFEHE



B %5 3 % Bt = (4R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE

25. fBF =

144

UL

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

AIERE 189,782,000 T (T ==
£F : 186,784,000)% T) At 42 5 e SR E
BRARE—RARMBARER  WUE
B - BE RREX216,036,0008 T &
R EEX153550008 T (8= — 4 :
WE - BB KRR EX9331,490,0007 7T &
B EE#19,685,0005 70) (EHE IR ©

HifgmeEeEEemAR((BHEe/mA

A ERA41,628,0008TT(ZE - —4 :
42,419,000/ 7T) ¢ (b)EEEAGTEET BE
223,619,682 L (=T = =4 : 205,512,076
I °

MR-_Z-—AF=1+—8 X2EHA
720,419,000 T R EREBERERIBER
ANETEIERR - RIBEEAGE - ZIEH
REDEABLRIERAFHREERE(RIER
Al ¢ R(b)AT AR fE 5 B R 124 (B2 M
7128) o BREBBANERFIR A8.4T% - 2F
BEMVISHEREEA198,594,0008 7T K
—EC=FF A=t AMEEHeEA
223,619,682/8 7T °

R-ZZB_=F+-A=+—R " RITEFK
HEEROMEERFENRTII%N(CEZ
ZF 7.21%) °

AEBETEERAAEREEREPESR
WHEGFEE - RZT_=F+=-A=+—
A BREAMEAE11,228,00087T (=
114,592 000;%%)9’1%%@%5%%2
fi% ARE WRZT_=F+=A=+—

,mAﬁﬁ%Hﬁ/ﬂ%qﬂ YEARBEE - AN
%IEEE@%E%WAE&WH&X%%?&
ME - NSV REIERE - LBk
EEN DN R

ZE - =F+ZA=+1+—HI5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

25. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(jii)

(iv)

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

Secured borrowings of approximately HK$189,782,000 (2022: HK$186,784,000)
were guaranteed by Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and a
fellow subsidiary, and secured by pledged property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$216,036,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$15,355,000 (2022: property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$331,490,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$19,685,000).

Other borrowings included (a) an International Finance Corporation (“IFC") loan
of approximately HK$41,628,000 (2022: HK$42,419,000); (b) liabilities under the
Creditors” Scheme of HK$223,619,682 (2022: HK$205,512,076).

As of 31 May 2022, the outstanding borrowing in the principal amount of
approximately HK$720,419,000 was discharged pursuant to the Creditors’
Scheme. Pursuant to the Creditors” Scheme, the admitted claims had
been allocated into (a) a 5-year term extension option ("Option A" and (b] a
convertible bonds swap option [please refer to note 28). The effective interest
rate of Option A is 8.47%, and the initial recognition of such liabilities is
HK$198,594,000 and amortized to HK$223,619,682 as of 31 December 2023.

The weighted effective interest rate of bank and other borrowings as of 31
December 2023, is approximately 7.31% (2022: 7.21%).

Certain of the Group’s facilities were subject to the fulfillment of covenants
commonly found in lending arrangements. As of 31 December 2023, borrowings
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$111,228,000 (2022: HK$114,592,000)
were in default of repayment or loan covenants and were classified as current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December
2023. The Group is in negotiations with the lenders to refinance the borrowings
at the end of the reporting period. As of the approval date of the consolidated
financial statements, the aforesaid borrowings were not yet renewed nor
repaid.
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26. AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO AN INTERMEDIATE/IMMEDIATE

HOLDING COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the amount
due to an immediate holding company is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. The amount due
from an intermediate holding company is unsecured,
interest-bearing at a fixed rate of 5% per annum and
repayable on demand.

Upon the Creditors” Scheme becoming effective on 31 May
2022, the amount due to an immediate holding company of
approximately HK$50,159,000 was discharged pursuant to
the Creditors’ Scheme.

27. DEFERRED REVENUE

B FE AR 2 BUF REK

—EC=F ==
2023 2022
FExT FEx
HK$'000 HK$'000
Government grants received related
to assets 69,354

RlRETBEX ¥R > QUMK
LeBEBEXERARANR_-_FT—=
FEREWBRMART L — D E - RIE
&g BEHBAFRERALTX
LEBEBEXARAFEHRMBEE
BB USEELEMKNES
ME - BB R REHERE -

HE_T-_=—FRk-_FT-__F+=
A=+—BLFE  XAEBTERK
MERER  MEBEE_T_=FK
—E-F+ A=+ —HILFE
I ERERE A E KA o EEKA
BREER D Th R E H ZREFTER o

PTURSR B B R IR 2 B B > #1448
R IR T WA B EL IR AFIRL T &
ERX  BEZATHEREARSF
HIR Rk o AR o

In order to encourage the development of magnesium
industry, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co., Limited entered into an agreement with the local
government in 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, the local
government agree to provide financial assistance (the
“Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Company Limited to improve their production technology and
enhance the capacity of the property, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group has not received any Assistance and there were
no other income was recognised for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022. The carrying amount of deferred
revenue decreased due to the arise of exchange difference.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables is
initially recognised as deferred revenue and subsequently
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable
asset by way of as a reduced depreciation charge expense.

MER R EERERER AR 145
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28.

146

AR E
RZEZ_FNARBE  KAFRE
BEEAGTEMNERETASRTE
458,390,000 T ZEE B A RKE
H(rprESHD) -

ARBREFR FESFEEAEF
HRE0.933 B T (BEMAFE H#HAR 2
FEERER)(ZTEZ_F :1.208
TO)BREUR (D - ATIRARE S MR ER B
REBTHEBRIAT - FAHAA
7 AT #2 AR B 5 B B B B BB R 1E D 82
o KABEER N EE &R E
EIRR AR ES

i—ié—%

AT MRESFERNFRE &2
BAANRASA-_ZTE-_—_F0A/8=
HEYEB K ©

BBERAEENGETER - AT BRKRE
FRBEENLTHNERRNRAUALS
HEERESTANEED RO
AtmBaBERED - WEREEE
BEBAETeEMNRENS 8
CHMEEHLNETHEMNARAAR
GRESTELE  BIBEZTA-
BEBIHRIABRBEUNTTE
BMTEMBIITMESARELEE -
B RN EEN TR ESER
FEEIETE2 - BT ABRIEERE
R A B B V) AR R w3 I e
FEHNH - AEBHI NI L HER
R ERFEFEE8.4T% °

PIEE AR BRE S R
BEERENINNKERAERER
) o

RZZB-_—_F+-_RA=+—8
MR EFEEHRINANES
320,048,000/ 7T ' BAAESHH
BE=M o
AEEeRMTANERMERERERR
EAEMAE -

28.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 5 August 2022, the Company has issued zero coupon
convertible bonds (“Convertible Bonds”) with aggregate
principal amount of HK$458,390,000 pursuant to the terms
of the Creditors” Scheme.

The Convertible Bonds entitle the bondholder to convert to
shares at a conversion price of HK$0.933 after adjusted for
the effect of rights issue during the year (2022: HK$1.20).
The maturity date of the Convertible Bonds is 5 years from
the date of issue. Conversion may occur at any time before
maturity date of the Convertible Bonds. The Company will
redeem the Convertible Bonds if the bonds have not been
converted on maturity date.

For more details of the terms of Convertible Bonds. Please
refer to the Company’s circular dated on 3 May 2022.

According to the Group's accounting policy, the Convertible
Bonds are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’'s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument. The fair value
of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
The equity element is presented in equity under the heading
of “convertible bond equity reserve”. The issuer redemption
options are considered as closely related to the host debt
and are not separated from the host contract. The effective
interest rate of the liability component on initial recognition
is 8.47% per annum.

The convertible option initially included in convertible bonds
equity reserve was transferred to retained earnings upon

expiry.

The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible
Bonds at 31 December 2022 amounted to HK$320,048,000,
which are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values.



B 7% 3R R = (&)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZT-=F+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

28. AJARES & 28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
FRABETHABRRESEHIHR/E The Convertible Bonds issued during the year have been
B D RERIHWT split into the liability and equity components as follows:

FET
HK$’000
AHBRESFNEITRHNARE Fair value of the Convertible Bonds

at the issuance date 352,175
= E D Equity Component (32,127)
RETRBENEESS Liability component at the issuance date 320,048
2 2 (BT 5E8) Interest expenses (Note 8) 27,122

RZEZ=F+ZA=+—HH Liability component as at 31 December 2023
BE#D 347,170

WERBREER AR AR 147
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29. IEFERIR 29. DEFERRED TAXATION
FRARGEEMBIRARER ZIRILE The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
Tt T8 45 BA B AE B B 1 B BB B the consolidated statement of financial position and the
N movements during the year as follows:

ELEFIEEE Deferred Tax Liabilities

HRRES ERAREE

Convertible Right-of-
bond use assets Total
FBT FETT THBT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZZE-_—_F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 - 2,995 2,995
FTALREER KEAM Credited to consolidated
2EBAK statement of profit
or loss and other
comprehensive income - (77) (77)
BB TR R ESF B 2 Deferred tax related to
EIERIE insurance of convertible
bonds 6,861 - 6,861
PE H &7 Exchange realignment - (225] (225)
RZE-—F+=-HA=+—H Asat31 December 2022
rMZE-_=9—H—H and 1 January 2023 6,861 2,693 9,554
SFAGAERE MEAM Credited to consolidated
FEBAF statement of profit
or loss and other
comprehensive income - (73) (73)
B ITA[ AR E S E E AR 2  Deferred tax related to
RERTR movement of convertible
bonds (2,238) - (2,238)
FE BB Exchange realignment - (95) (95)
RZEZ=F As at 31 December 2023
+=ZA=+—8 4,623 2,525 7,148

148 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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EERIE ()
ELERBEBEE®)

REBRBBEBR(FHBEBDDFERTR
BEABEENTEEEL A36,537,000
BIL(ZZT = —4F :87,887,000/%
J0) - WA PR BRI S E £ A A E
B RRIMRRERT G - A&
BMRARAEEREEESS
T(ZEZ—F : FFL) R —
ZRFERED A 5 R R ER T
A o ELEB AR EEE — B
BERBEERTEN T2 A E I
ZEWBRRIAIEBA 2 HIEEE - i)
RLHEEEMS  TABRELER
HEE o

BEFECEMESHE  RPBERA
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(2 EF - =F+=-A=1+—HI-FE For the year ended 31 December 2023

DEFERRED TAXATION /continued)
Deferred Tax Liabilities /continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong before Inland
Revenue Department ("IRD"] assessment of approximately
HK$36,537,000 (2022: HK$87,887,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has
tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$nil (2022: HK$nil)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against
future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen
in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the tax losses can be utilised by
these subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable
to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding dividend taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding
dividend taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries, associate, and
joint ventures established in Mainland China. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries,
associate and joint ventures will distribute such earnings in
the foreseeable future. There was no significant temporary
difference associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associate in Mainland China at the end of the
reporting period (2022: nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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30. A 30. SHARE CAPITAL
RRRVEE KRB EITRAZ ZEHE A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and
T issued share capital is as follows:
Number of Share
shares capital
B8
RHEE LEN
HK$'000
TR
BERTRARE Issued and fully paid:
SREEIOATEER Ordinary shares of HK$0.01
(Z2-2%: 00187T) (2022: HK$0.01) each
R-E-~%—Hf—H As at 1 January 2022 6,584,390,058 658,439
BB A R 2 IRARHDRL - MRt & 0F Capital reduction; share
48 (i) consolidation and share
sub-division upon capital
reorganisation effective (Note a) (6,255,170,554) (655,147
B PRETT 2 5 EIR (P EEh) Issue of scheme shares upon capital
reorganisation effective (Note b) 65,843,900 658
RZE-Z#+-A=+—HK As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
—TZ=f—-H—H 395,063,402 3,950
BT (M 5Ec) ssuance of right shares [Note c) 197,531,701 1,976
R-F-=F+-A=t+-H As at 31 December 2023 592,595,103 5926
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HE_T-=F+_"R=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

On 14 July 2022, the capital reorganisation of the Company became effective.
And the capital reorganization comprised the following:

(i) every twenty issued and unissued shares of par value HK$0.10 each in
the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one consolidated
share of par value HK$2.00 each in the share capital of the Company;

(i) the capital reduction by which: (a) any fractional consolidated share
in the issued share capital of the Company arising from the share
consolidation shall be cancelled; and (b) the issued share capital of the
Company be reduced by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent
of HK$1.99 on each of the then issued consolidated shares such that
the par value of each issued consolidated share will be reduced from

HK$2.00 to HK$0.01; and

(iii) immediately following the capital reduction, each of the authorised but
unissued consolidated share with par value of HK$2.00 each be sub-
divided into two hundred new shares of par value HK$0.01 each.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company issued 65,843,900
scheme shares at an issue price of HK$1.20 per share under the Creditors’
Scheme which represents 20% of existing number of issued shares before
relevant share issue.

The Scheme Shares are held by the Scheme Company for and on behalf of the
Term Extension Option Creditors. None of the Term Extension Option Creditors
will become a substantial shareholder of the Company as a result of the
issuance of the Scheme Shares.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3
May 2022 and 26 July 2022.

On 30 October 2023, the Company carried out a rights issue on the basis of one
rights share for every two existing shares held on 21 September 2023 at the
subscription price of HK$0.08 per rights share.

The scheme company applied for 1,230,212 rights issue. With the effect of the
rights issue, the adjusted conversion price per share and number of conversion
share would be HK$0.933 each and 80,242,892 respectively.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 6
October 2023, 27 October 2023 and 30 October 2023.
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 4 December 2017, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company. Under
the Scheme, the Company may grant options to the directors
or employees of the Group and any substantial shareholder,
consultant or adviser, distributor, contractor, supplier,
service provider, agent, customer and business partner of
the Group (the “Eligible Participant”) to subscribe for shares
in the Company.

Options may be granted on such terms and conditions
in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise as the
directors may determine in its absolute discretion, provided
that such terms and conditions shall not be inconsistent with
any other term conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest of (i] the
closing price of the shares on Main Boards stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer
of the option; [ii) the average prices of the shares on Main
Board as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

The share options are exercisable only if the Eligible
Participants remain in the service of the Group or substantial
shareholder from the grant date of the share options up to
the designated exercise date.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each eligible person in
the twelve-month period expiring on the offer date must
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Group.
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Group, or any
of their respective associates, would result in the securities
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding] to such person in the twelve-
month period up to and including the date of such grant (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
securities in issue: and (ii) (where the securities are listed on
the Stock Exchangel, having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the securities at the date of each grant,
in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options
must be approved by shareholders of the Group.
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3. BREE 31.  SHARE OPTIONS /continuea)
BE-_Z-_=F+=-A=1+— For the year ended 31 December 2023
HIFE

£ R
Riie fiffe AR i
Bl g k8 8
Adjusted
exercise
price
Exercisable  per share
Adjusted price per after
upon the Options Options Options Options share before  the rights
Heldat  completion granted  exercised  cancelled lapsed Heldat rightsissue issue on 30
1 January ofthe  Held after during  during the during during 31 December on 30 October
2023 rightsissue  rights issue the year year the year the year 2023 October 2023 2023
AT BT
W k&
Employees 8,170,000 1,040,280 9,210,280 9,210,280)
7,000,000 - - (7,000,000)
B £
Directors
huc-d 1,500,000 190,994 1,690,99% (1,690,994)
Shum Sai Chit
B 250,000 31,832 281,832 (281,832)
Kwong Ping Man
FEL 250,000 382 281832 (281,832)
Cheung Sound Poon

10,170,000 1,294,938 11,464,938 (11,464,938
7,000,000 - - (7,000,000

17,170,000 (18,464,938)
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BREw 31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
BE_ZT_—_F+-A=1+— For the year ended 31 December 2022
BLEFE
R
—E-CF
R i I tA+mA
= == ZEIZE CRCIE RfAdL
- RRHAM £ £m £ £m t2A tATHA TRk
- (S5 RRH Riliz ffEz itz XNz SiialH UL k8
5 (W&30)  &oHARR i FlhE e ElhE W8 ZBROKE (FfaE)
Adjusted
Adjusted Exercisable exercisable
upon the price per share price per share
completion Options Options Options Options before share after share
Heldat  of the share Held after granted exercised cancelled lapsed Heldat  consolidation  consolidation
1 January  consolidation share during  during the during during 31 December on14July on 14 July 2022
2022 [note 30 consolidation the year year the year the year 2022 2022 [note
i B
HK$ HKS
W kg
Employees 163,400,000 (155,230,000) 8,170,000 - - - - 8,170,000 0.4 8
140,000,000 (133,000,000) 7,000,000 - - - - 7,000,000 03 b
B =
Directors
s 30,000,000 (28,500,000) 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000 0.4 8
Shum Sai Chit
B 5,000,000 (6,750,000) 250,000 - - - - 250,000 0.4 8
Kwong Ping Man
FEAR 5,000,000 (6,750,000) 250,000 - - - - 250,000 0.4 8
Cheung Sound Poon
B 5,000,000 (6,750,000) 250,000 - - - (250,000) - 0.4 8
Kwan Ngai Kit*
208400000 (197,980,000 10,420,000 - - - (2500000 10,170,000 0.4 8
140,000,000 (133,000,000) 7,000,000 - - - - 7,000,000 03 b
348,400,000 (330,980,000 17,420,000 - - - (250,000) 17,170,000 - -
* RZEZZFAZT++HHRME * retired on 27 June 2022
ROB-=F+-"F=+—RHLK No options were outstanding at 31 December 2023.
BEARITEBRE -
MNAFERBEE - ZEr8A T A 2 As at the date of the annual report, the total number of
(RPN TR A5 4B B (4 b it o4 R Shares of the Company available for issue under the Scheme
TR BB #E) 222,871,9500% - HHE lincluding the above Options outstanding not yet exercised)
AR R % B C#TIRALIS.86% ° was 22,871,950 representing approximately 3.86% of the
ZETEl 2 R TN RLE - MR issued share capital of the Company as of the date thereof.
—EAF+_AMBER - The remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 4 years

and to be expired on 4 December 2027.
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(2 EF - =F+=-A=1+—HI-FE For the year ended 31 December 2023

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The fair value of Options granted during the year ended
31 December 2019 determined using the Binomial Option
Pricing model was approximately HK$13,509,000. The
significant inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.285, at the grant date and adjusted for the effect of
the share subdivision, exercise price shown above, expected
volatility ranged from 46.729% to 54.568%, annual risk-free
interest rate of 1.459% to 1.758%. Expected life of Options
of approximately 1.10 to 3.10 years and dividend payout
ratio 1.64. The volatility measured at the standard deviation
of expected share price returns is based on statistical
analysis of daily share prices from 31 December 2010 to
25 July 2019. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
HK$nil (2022: approximately HK$918,000) were charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

No Options were granted during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current year and prior period are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
60 of the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) ("Companies
Act”) amounted to HK$521,318,000 (2022: HK$669,253,000).
Under the Companies Act, the Company’s contributed
surplus of the Company is also available for distribution to
the Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution
made out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the
Company unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or
the realisable value of its assets would thereby become less
than its liabilities.

The Group’s special reserve represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the
listing of the Company's shares in 1993, and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
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3. MEEKFELEEZHIER 33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Ew /(1)

ERAR
ZRE X EANE THRES act

Due from/

(to) holding Interest  Convertible

companies Borrowings  Payables bonds Total
TER TER TER TER TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZEZ=%—-H—H As at 1 January 2023 2,871 320,104 8,474 320,048 651,497
HERSRE Financing cash flow (6,010) (901) (8,474) (15,385)
3R] Exchange realignment (2,463) 687 (1,776)
EFRegs QOther non-cash movement:
EAFIR Interest payable : 3,034 : 3,034
BRMEX M Effective interest expense 18,108 : 21,122 45,230
W-ZE-=%#+-A=1+-H Net debt as at 31 December
MERFE 2023 334,848 347,170 682,600
Eff—-%
RR 258 fER ERNE WRRES st
Duetoa Interest  Convertible
shareholder Borrowings  Payables bonds Total
TEL TEL TEn TEn FEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-—F—-f-H As at 1 January 2022 39,958 876,043 82,847 - 998,848
WEBERE Financing cash flow 13,072 (34,621) (429) - (21,978)
i 5 &7 Exchange realignment - (6,411) 183 - (6,228)
L Re e Other non-cash movement:
RIS Interest payable - 3,076 - 3,076
ERFISTL Effective interest expense - 6,918 - 10,385 17,303
REEEAGAERNAE Liabilities transferred pursuant to the
Creditors’ Scheme (50,159)  (521,825) (77,203 309,663 (339,524)
W-Z-—#+-A=1+-H Net debt as at 31 December
HEHEE 2022 2871 320,104 8474 320048 651497
%, FBEEXRH 34. NON-CASH TRANSACTION
HE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—8H1t During the year ended 31 December 2022, additions
FEHE X BERREZR of property, plant and equipment was partially settled
ERPHFERTFEEREED A by inventories and prepayment for inventories with the
#71,601,00078 7T 5,921,000/ ST AT amounts of approximately HK$1,601,000 and HK$5,921,000
HE respectively.
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36.

37.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZT-=F+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

BEERA 35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

REBNFELEEEELRETOMER Details of the Group’s borrowings, which are secured by

BEFERMEE14 - 15 22825 » certain assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, 15, 22
and 25.

AR 36. COMMITMENTS

REERIKEBRITA NI E AR The Group had the following capital commitments at the end

Z of the reporting period:

—E_=F —E__—F
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$’'000

EETHMERIER A - Contracted, but not provided for: -
ME - BB MR E Property, plant and equipment 18,872 26,973
ERBEALRS 37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) MREMWEMBRREMEEF (a] In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
MR HIN  REFER - NEE these financial statements, the Group had the following
BETIEREEALRS - material transactions with related parties during the
year:
BZE
—E-=F —E-_—F
a=y: =l t—A=1+—H
IHEFE LHFE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000

REEES INCIFAR Management fee paid to
ZERE an intermediate holding
company 2,950
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3. EXBEATRS @)

158

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

AEBTEEEABRM

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

—E-=F — =

2023 2022

FET FHET

HK$°000 HK$’000

=3 EE)) Directors (Note 9) 1,517
HhEZEEAS : Other key management personnel:

FekEMmLHEERET Salaries and other short term
employee benefits 1,641
3,158
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As at 31 December 2023, the amount due to an
immediate holding company was approximately
HK$5,822,000 (2022: HK$2,871,000). The amount is
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand (note 26).

As at 31 December 2023, the convertible bonds issued
to the immediate holding company of the Company,
Ming Xin Developments Limited, was approximately
HK$338,601,000 (note 28).

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
published on 1 August 2021 (the "Announcement”],
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co., Ltd.
and Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Company
Limited, the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, entered into guarantee agreements
with a bank to guarantee the payment obligations
of Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company
Limited ("Shandong Hongri“), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited (the controlling shareholder of the Company],
in respect of the loans amounting to RMB124.96 million
advanced by that bank to Shandong Hongri under the
loan agreements. Shandong Hongri is accordingly a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, and the guarantees constituted
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules and were subject to the reporting,
announcement requirements and independent
shareholders” approval requirement under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. However, the Company
had not complied with the reporting, announcement
requirements and independent shareholders” approval
requirement in respect of the Guarantees at the
relevant time. The Company has taken various remedial
measures to enhance its internal control and prevent
recurrence of such non-compliance as disclosed in the
Announcement.
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(f)

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
published on 16 August 2023, the Company has entered
into the loan agreements with Century Sunshine
Group Holdings Limited for a term of 1 year from 16
August 2023 to 15 August 2024, pursuant to which the
Company has agreed to provide a loan of less than
HK$10,000,000 to Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited, bearing an interest rates of 5% per annum.

As Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited is an
intermediate holding company of the Company, and
is therefore a connected person of the Company.
Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
transaction contemplated under the loan agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company. As
one or more of the relevant applicable ratios (as defined
under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules] in respect of the
loan are less than 25%, and the loan principal under
the Loan Agreement exceeds HK$3,000,000 but is less
than HK$10,000,000, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, the Loan Agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder are subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements, but are exempt from
the circular (including independent financial advice)
and independent Shareholders” approval requirements.

As at 31 December 2023, the amount due from Century
Sunshine Group Holdings Limited is HK$8,961,000
(2022: HK$NIL).
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(g) Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”):

- Save as disclosed in the item (a), (c), (d) and (f]
above, the Directors consider that the other
related party transactions disclosed in the Note
37 do not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

- The Directors confirm that the transactions
under “management fee paid to an intermediate
holding company” set forth in item (a) above are
fully exempt from the reporting, announcement,
circular and shareholders” approval requirements
under Rule 14A.73 and Rule 14A.76 of the Listing
Rules.

- The Directors confirm that the transaction under
“amount due to Ming Xin Developments Limited”
set forth in item (c) was conducted on normal
commercial terms or better, and not secured by
the assets of the Group, and thus are fully exempt
from the reporting, announcement, circular and
shareholders” approval requirements under Rule
14A.73 and Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that the
other related party transactions disclosed in the Note 37 and
elsewhere in these financial statements do not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

—E_=F%+=ZA=+—H
31 December 2023

THEE

FEWE 5 Bk M R R &
Smige MEMEWRIEZ EREE

RBe kR &EHEER
JE U R AL A B2 SRR

ZEH
BT &2
TRHEE

Financial
assets at
amortised cost
THET
HK$°000

Financial assets

Trade receivables and bills receivable

Financial assets included in deposits and
other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Amount due from an intermediate holding
company

FERT B SR
S REAM RN AN BT ERZ
TREE

&K

FEN B A R 2 58
AR AR 75

be7g: ¥
A& 2
cRas
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FHET
HK$'000

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 15,472
Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals 25,752
Borrowings 334,848
Amount due to an immediate holding

company 5,822

Convertible bonds

347,170

729,064
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

31 December 2022

R

RATTEZ

Financial

assets at

SREE Financial assets amortised cost

FET

HK$°000

e E S BRI Trade receivables 1,498
P hike REAMEKGKIEZ @REE  Financial assets included in deposits and

other receivables 3,789

EIKIRIRITER Pledged bank deposits 9,698

RekREFEIER Cash and cash equivalents 28,599

43,584

tvg i

A& 2

cREas

Financial

liabilities at

B 3= Financial liabilities amortised cost

FET

HK$'000

JETE 5 R Trade payables 17,449

S REMENRIBEREFERZ Financial liabilities included in other

THRARE payables and accruals 23,244

&k Borrowings 320,104

e — R 2 K8 Amount due to a shareholder 2,871

AR ES Convertible bonds 320,048

683,716

162 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of the
Group's financial assets and liabilities, the balance were
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly comprise
trade and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from an intermediate holding company, cash
and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, trade payables,
other payables and accruals, borrowings, and amount due to
an immediate holding company and convertible bonds.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign
currency risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure
to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without
the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.
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EREERERBX

(#&) [continued)

EERMk @) Credit risk (continued)
AEBENABEERR D RFTEE

FELATEER -

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

W EBEE AR gl

Internal credit

rating Description

(i9EE RS ETF 77 00 E H) R K B3 A
BHIFRIA

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default
and does not have any past-due
amounts

ERRE BERALEEDREAER - B8
BEUEE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates
but usually settle in full

2+ RIBA LRI PSS EHL -
B ERAREERREZE LT

Doubtful There have been 5|gmf|cant increases
in credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed
internally or externally

&8 ERBRETNEECELEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

s BREBBRNEBARBABREMERM
7R ER [ g [0 SR IR B0 M S

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the

debtor is in severe financial difficulty

and the Group has no realistic prospect

FEW & 5 BRFX

Trade receivables

FHITREEEEE -
RELEERE
Lifetime ECL-

not credit-impaired

EHIFEHEEEE -
RELEERE
Lifetime ECL-

not credit-impaired
ZHIFRHEEEE -
ARBEEEERE
Lifetime ECL-

not credit-impaired

FHIFREEEEIE -
BERAEEERE
Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired

MHE T

Amount is written off

HihemEE
Other financial
assets

121 A 8 5
EEER
12m ECL

12{E A 78 54
EEEER
12m ECL

2HEMEEEE -
RNEEFEERE
Lifetime ECL-

not credit-impaired

S HIFREE SR8 -
BEELEEERIE
Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired

MIHE RS

Amount is written off

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued]

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

o assessment:
HPEE RBEE 128 A5 2 HiFE
Birat B B FEFE REAE
External
credit Internal credit 12-month or
Notes  rating ratings lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
—EC=E —E-CF
2023 2022
TER TET
HK$°000 HK$'000
REERATENESREE
Financial assets at
amortised cost
B E HEN 20 KRk FHRNEEER
- ABEEERE 1523
Trade receivables 20 Low risk lifetime ECL-
not credit-impaired 1,523
ERYE SHRNEEER
- REEEERE -
Watch list lifetime ECL-not
credit-impaired -
T 2HEHEEEE
- REEEERE -
Doubtful lifetime ECL-not
credit-impaired -
BB HEHEEEE
-BEEEERE 144,027 153,358
Loss Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired 144,027 153,358
Be REMERIE 21 EE R REABBEESE 3,186 3,930
Deposits and other receivables 21 Low risk 12m ECL 3,186 3,930
BEERBIER 2 AZEAa2 T 12{EAEHEEER = 9,698
Pledged bank deposits 22 A3toAa2 N/A 12m ECL = 9,698
RITHEER 2 A3ZEA3  TEA 2EARHEERR 39,936 28,595
Bank balances 22 A3toAa3  N/A 12m ECL 39,936 28,595
3| £= 7o INE
MR SR EIER G R A A 165
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued]

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL
on these items on a collective basis, grouped by aging status
and past due status.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers in relation
to its operation. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). Debtors with credit-impaired with gross
carrying amounts of HK$144,027,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: HK$153,358,000) were assessed individually.

R EBIE E TR Internal credit rating
1K B Low risk

ERAE Watch list

it Doubtful

—E-=F —E=-=

2023 2022
FHEBEE  ERESRR FHEEE EREZSERR
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
FHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000

1.6% 1,523
TER
N/A -
TEA
N/A -
1,523

i AR T R IR MBI 5 BB R
A7 N0 K B W01
SEMER I RBAN R BS
PR 3158 ) B A 43 80 AT O
F AR -

HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—8 1t
FE - AEERBEEETHERE
WE 5 R FUR BB 18R E 13,0008
TC( =T = —4F : #19,00087T) °
B AEBREATCHLEEER
BRI R ET IR BEREE3,935,000%
TL(ZE =4 : #15104,192,0007%
JL) °

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on probability
of default and loss given default over the expected life of
the trade receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue costs or effort.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
provided reversal of HK$13,000 (2022: allowance for
HK$19,000) impairment loss recognised for trade receivables
based on collective assessment. Reversal of allowance of
HK$3,935,000 (2022: allowance of HK$104,192,000) were
made on debtors with significant balance and credit-
impaired debtors.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
[continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach:

EHITEH 2HITEH

FEEBE FEE#E
(RHEBEE (BHBE
BRE) BRE)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
FAT FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
RZE-_—_F—HF—H At 1 January 2022 5,717 51,185 56,902
iz Transfer (4,459) 4,459 -
EERAEEERE Impairment losses
FEE recognised, net (19) 104,192 104,173
fEH =% Exchange difference (1,214) (6,478) (7,692)
WN-_E-—4F At 31 December 2022 and
+ZA=+—8BkK 1 January 2023
RZTZ=%F—H—H 153,358 153,383
EHRRBEEEFE Impairment losses
recognised, net (3,935) (3,948)
P& i =% Exchange difference (5,396) (5,397)
N-E-=F At 31 December 2023
+=B=+—H 144,027 144,038
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

For the purpose of internal credit risk management of
deposits and other receivables, the Group uses past due
informations to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

REHA & AR
Not past due Past due Total
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—EBE=F 2023
R A M U GRIE Deposits and other

receivables

—EoF 2022
e KHE M EWRIE Deposits and other
receivables 3,930 - 3,930

Mire RHEMERFIENS @ BEE
BREITEEEIRIENERHZS R
F b R IE ) AT Y [B] 1 HE 1T R R
BUFHE - ERERE - ZEFIEN
EERRE 7SR ARIL MEE -
o mAEEZ12E A BB EEEE
FTHRRERE -

For deposits and other receivables, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on industry credit
rating and default rate. The management believes that there
are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023
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0. BIRRABEEBERBER 40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(#&) [continued)
NERBRESIRS R E M ERFORRE The following table show the movement of ECL that has
REFEREEHENES - been recognised for deposits and other receivables.
2HEE 2HEE
FEER FEEBR
12{8R (RHBRE (EHBRE
RHGEERE BiRfE) SiRfE) ik
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m impaired) impaired) Total
THER TET THx TR
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
RZZE-__F—-H—-H At 1 January 2022
ERAREEEFE Impairment losses
recognised, net
5 AR Exchange difference
RZEZZF+ZA=1+—H At 31 December 2022 and
FR=—E-=F—f—H 1 January 2023
B R E B R FE Reversal of impairment
losses recognised, net
& 5 % Exchange difference

RZE-=#+-FA=+—H At 31 December 2023
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

For pledged bank deposits and bank balances, the credit risk
is limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank
deposits and bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default of
the respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates,
the 12m ECL on pledged bank deposits and bank balances
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to pledged bank deposits and fixed-rate borrowings
(see Notes 22 and 25 respectively for details).

As management considers the Group's exposure to
the above fair value interest rate risk is not significant,
no interest rate swaps or other hedging activities are
undertaken by management during the year.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on bank deposits and variable-rate bank borrowings. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and
borrowings.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)
Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on variable-rate borrowings as at 31
December 2023 had been 10 basis points (0.1% per annum)
(2022: 10 basis points) higher/lower than the actual effective
interest rate, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$36,000 (2022:
post tax loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$35,000).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances carried at prevailing market rate.
However, such exposure is minimal to the Group as the bank
balances are all short-term in nature.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets [e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings and banking facilities. The Group’s bank
borrowings would mature in less than one year as at 31
December 2023 based on the carrying value of borrowings
reflected in the financial statements.

The following tables described the maturity profile of the
Group's financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments.
Specifically, borrowing with repayment on demand clause
and amounts being demanded by the creditors for immediate
repayment are included in the earliest time band.
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4. BEEREREBRFERBEK 40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[

(&

mEES R E

[continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

ENEHER
JIREMENFR RETER
LERAE

Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

MEFS
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

S S
31 December 2023
X3 AERRE
—-F i Claed MEAE
On

demand or Total
less than Over  undiscounted
1year 1year cash flows
TER TER TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000

HK$'000

15,472 15,472

25,752 - 25,752

KAE

Carrying
amount

THR
HK$'000

15,472

25,752

&3 Borrowings 114,949 298,401 413,350 334,848
Ef—ZRE 5 Amount due to a shareholder 5,822 - 5,822 5,822
akES Convertible bonds 29,504 428,886 458,390 347,170
191,499 727,287 918,786 729,064
ZE_ZE+ZA=1-H
31 December 2022
MERH REXS RUREE
ERAIZ HR-E BR-F HELE | f
Weighted On
average demand or Total
effective less than Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1year cash flows amount
Tin Fhn Thn Tin
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EREFER Trade payables - 17449 - 17449 17449
Gl EEERTERETER Financial liabilities included in
JeRAkE other payables and accruals - 23,244 - 23,244 23,244
&3 Borrowings 670 122270 219,281 341551 320,104
Eff—2RE 5 Amount due to a shareholder - 2871 - 2871 2871
BkES Convertible bonds 8.47 27122 431,268 458,390 320,048
192954 450,549 843,505 683716

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023



40.

MBEREEEREREE
(4

SNES LR
ERAREABLEBRS  BE
REEEBASHBLANNEE
REHE - B8 A R B KRN
FE 8 b - 7K % 81 B A1 30 4 B 5N B
25 BERE B SIMEHRE
5 o A B8 B 4) B R H SN E A
% - MR BREEE R BRI

SEERER  FTEHENR
EASEERELE  YHEFRE
ZERLE  DXFHHEBRRES
PIREME -

AEBEEEREEAERE  THEL
FEAR I 2 B B 2 & = R R R
FE - ERFAABREEARER
B AEBXERBREEDNE AL
BTG  REE_ZE-_=F+
—A=t—BRZ-ZZE-_-_F+=-A
=t+—HLFE EBE - BXH
BrRITEED -

40.

=

E L EATEC )
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BT =F+ZA=+—HIE%JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued]

Foreign currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposures to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective subsidiaries. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its significant foreign
currency exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the year ended 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022.
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4. RDTZ MR ER 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
RRRRHMERRZ T BRAKE Information about the statement of financial position of the
BT - Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

—E_=F —E__—F
ToA=1T—H e s
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
FAT FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSET
MEBARZRE Investments in subsidiaries 886,257 990,467
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
JE s B /88 A R 3R I8 Amounts due from subsidiaries 214,375 218,108
Bt EIA Prepayments = 1,524
JEUg A RIFE R A R) 2 5RO Amount due from an intermediate
holding company 8,961 -
B & MIRTTHE S Cash and bank balances 209 257
MBEELRRR Total current assets 223,545 219,889
REEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
HMENRIERESER Other payables and accruals 1,323 1,861
JE BB IERY A R 2 5 Amount due to an immediate
holding company 5,822 2,871
mENBERRE Total current liabilities 7,145 4,732
nBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 216,400 215,157
EELBERABEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 1,102,657 1,205,624

7% Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZT-=F+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

[continued]

—EF-= B F
G ESR=E T —A=1—H
31 December 31 December
2023 2022

FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$°000

FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

B Borrowings 223,620 205,512
AR E S Convertible bonds 347,170 320,048
EERIEBE Deferred tax liabilities 4,623 6,861
EmEBERRE Total non-current liabilities 575,413 532,421
BEFE Net assets 527,244 673,203
= EQUITY

BT Issued capital 5,926 3,950
1 (B 5E) Reserves (note) 521,318 669,253
REmiasa Total equity 527,244 673,203
MBEHmER_ZE_IF=RA=_+N The financial statement was approved and authorised for
AESEgRMREETID - W H issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024 and was
THEEFRKEE signed on its behalf by:

L

Mr. Shum Sai Chit

EF

Director

METRE L+
Ms. Chi Sile
EF

Director
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-_Z-_=%+=-A=+—HLLFJZ For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. RARZHBERRTR @ 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
[continued]
P 5T Note:
RRABZ HERELT - A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:

BA

3
R EEH BARE el BRERE ZitER
Share Capital Convertible Share
premium Contributed redemption bond equity option  Accumulated
account surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
RZFZ=%—-f—-8 As at 1 January 2022 1,562,634 (1,135,269 480,084
FEBEERZEFRESR Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year - (531,519) (531,519)
BAER Capital reorganisation 655,147 = 655,147
BIRG - MBRZ KA Issue of shares, net of
transaction cost = 28,972
TR BB ES Issue of convertible bonds = 42,512
RETARESFEHL Deferred tax related to
EERIE issuance of convertible
bonds (6,861)
BRUERE Share option lapsed -
RELERORRZZS Equity settled share-based
transactions 918
RIBZZF+ZR As at 31 December 2022 and
=t-BR=E==H% 1 January 2023
-A—-H

FEBHEARZEXHER Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year - - - - - [160,645) [160,645)

B A A Share option lapsed - - - - 30,646) 30,646 -
BT Issue of rights shares 12,710 - - - - - 12,710
WZZZ=F As at 31 December 2023

+=A=+-H 1,604,316 677,123 419 35,651 - (1,796,191) 521318
RABIZBABRBEREBE - N= The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
FARRNBZRD EMRAIFTETZSE of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
EEAMKEZMERRIRND 22 pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of
AREBAARBRILZEROMEITZ the Company’s shares in 1993, over the nominal value of
RARBRHEEBEZED - BRE—N the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor. Under
N—FBRERRNE - —HERAAT the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, a company may make
EETERT  BARBREAZ distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus
HEMAKEELHDIK in certain circumstances.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Z=F+=ZA=+—H1EFJE For the year ended 31 December 2023

42. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Company
Limited ("Baishan Tianan”), a PRC subsidiary of the
Group, received a court summons from a PRC bank on
2 June 2021, as disclosed in our 2022 annual report.
This summons was regarding a breach of loan terms
and conditions by Baishan Tianan, with the bank
demanding repayment of approximately 64 million
yuan in principal that had not been settled, along
with interest and other related costs. As of 16 March
2022, the Baishan Intermediate People’s Court of Jilin
Province issued an execution ruling, approving the
bank’s application to freeze certain assets owned by
Baishan Tianan. However, on December 22 of the same
year, the court lifted the freezing on the mining rights
of Baishan Tianan. Subsequently, Baishan Tianan was
notified by the Baishan Court through an execution
ruling on 5 February 2024, that its pledged assets
would be auctioned from 10 March to 11 March 2024,
with a starting price of approximately RMB133 million.
As of the date of this report, the auction has failed
without any bids.

Currently, the debt restructuring process for Baishan
Tianan is still ongoing, but it has become increasingly
difficult due to a shortage of liquid funds and the
impact of litigation enforcement, which also hinders
the regular operations of the company. The Group
is actively communicating with creditors, hoping to
resolve the lawsuits through settlements to provide
the related enterprises with the necessary time and
space for restructuring. If a new agreement cannot
be reached with the creditors, they may resume legal
proceedings to enforce the court’s judgment. The
Group will disclose relevant information in a timely
manner based on the progress of Baishan Tianan's
debt restructuring, to keep shareholders and investors
informed of any significant developments related to the
restructuring or litigation.
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ZE - =F+=A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Reference is made to the announcement of the
Company dated 1 August 2021, the Company received
a written ruling (the "Ruling”] from Linyi Intermediate
People’'s Court ("Linyi Court”] regarding a PRC bank’s
application to enforce guarantees of loans amounting to
RMB124.96 million granted to Shandong Hongri by the
bank that have been provided by certain subsidiaries of
the Group.

On 25 November 2021, the PRC bank had submitted an
application to Linyi Court to withdraw the enforcement.
Pursuant to the written ruling from Linyi Court dated 1
December 2021, such application was approved and the
enforcement was withdrawn.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that up to
report date there were no significant litigations would have
material adverse impact on the business, operation and
financial position of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is a proposed auction for the Group on subsequent
event. The detail is shown as follow:

The Company has received an execution ruling from
the Baishan Court dated 5 February 2024, and has been
informed that the Baishan Court carried out an auction in
related to the Baishan Tianan Assets from 10 March 2024 to
11 March 2024, with a total reserve price of approximately
RMB182.79 million.

As of the date of this report, the auction has been
unsuccessful.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March
2024.
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MBHME
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

This summary does not form part of the audited financial

— & o statements.
¥E RESULTS
Bz B2 BZ BZ Bz
“E-hE —E-EE —E--E& —E-CE —EC-=
TZAZ+-B +ZA=t-H +ZR=+-8 +ZA=1-H [y
LEE LEE LEE L5E LHEE
For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended ended ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
TEn FhEn FhEn FEn TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BFE ()
M EE i)
Note (i) and
Note (ii
WA Revenue 1,515,291 744,836 416,060 383,899 263,491
RAnaR/ (B8 Profit/[loss) before tax 263,128 (68,448 (326,729) 5,632 (625,911)
& Income tax (53,394) (5,363] (5,156) (4,228) 231
AEERH /(BB Profit/[loss) for the year 209,732 (74,011) (331,883) 1,404 (423,600)
ATALEERR/ (BB : Profit/[Loss| attributable to:
ARAIRERAA Fquity holders of the Company 209,732 (74,011) (331,883 1,404 (423,600)
Fizakilid o Non-controlling interests - - - - =
KEEEH/ (BE) Profit/[loss) for the year 209,732 (74,011) (331,883) 1,404 (623,600)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

AEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
R=Z-AF  WoF-EF ROBS-F 0 ROICCh e
T2AZt-A T2A=t-A T2A=t-0 T2A=1-0 e
Asat As at As at As at As at
31December  31December  31December ~ 31December KNS
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ThR Tin Tin TiEn TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(il
Note (i)
gERE Total assets 2,584,324 2,556,832 2,360,819 1,873,174 1,442,531
S Total liabilities [1,166,437) (1,104910) (1171,677) (177,222) (829,570)
1,387 887 1451922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961
ARaiERE AEGRE Fquity attributable to equity holders
of the Company 1,387,887 1451922 1,188,942 1,095,992 612,961
1,387,887 1451922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961
5T Notes:
(i) REREERBBIZHBRET HIZEEFEE I (i) The comparative figures of the results and asset and liabilities have been prepared
ZEFFRMER - based on the previous annual report published in the corresponding years.
(ii) KEBZz 2VHENBEE—_T-N\F+-_A=+—H (i) The Group has re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the year ended 31
IFFE 2 BRIEREEBN L BHRNEERILE - December 2018 had been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period.
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